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Then the Spanish, in their leisurely way, colonized Mexico, and the Russians colonized “Russian 
America,” our Alaska, and the Adventurers of England trading into Hudson’s Bay, gathered furs, 
ever wending westwards until there was prairie no more; they had reached the Rockies and 
entered. With the Spaniard creeping up from the south, and the Russians creeping down from the 
north, soon the twain must meet and if, as some said, there actually was a passage by water 
across New Britain, as part of Canada was called, the British had better hurry, or they would find 
their access to the “Western Sea” cut off, and its shores in possession of another nation … Capt. 
George Vancouver was hastened off to find out. What Vancouver was attempting when he 
entered our First Narrows, and was stopped by land at Port Moody, was to sail across by water to 
our Calgary and our Winnipeg, and so reach Hudson’s Bay and England by that short cut. 
Vancouver went back and reported to the British Admiralty there was no passage. 

Meanwhile much had happened. The Battle of the Plains of Abraham gave Canada to the British, 
and the War of Independence took the New England colonies away, long years before Capt. 
Vancouver, in 1792, was the first European to peer into our beautiful harbour. In 1492 Columbus 
had entered the Caribbean Sea on America’s eastern shore; three centuries—three hundred long 
years—elapsed before white faces reached its western one on the Pacific Slope at Vancouver. Of 
all the hordes of Asia, and the hosts of Europe, and the five million Europeans resident on the 
Atlantic coast of America, not one pair of eyes, of white, black or yellow man had glimpsed our 
land-locked harbour, a forgotten haven in an old and densely populated world, and into which, 
last year, 27,000 vessels, great and small, followed where Vancouver led. 

Even a mere lifetime ago, eighty-six years, geographical knowledge was so scant that, in 1859, 
the Legislative Assembly of the Province of Canada gravely ordered printed, with maps, a 
proposal to connect the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans by wagon road, lake navigation, and 
passenger steamers running on the Fraser River, two hundred and fifty miles from its headwaters 
to an imaginary city, called “Albert City,” on the site of the present Vancouver on Burrard Inlet. 
How the vessels were to pass through Hell’s Gate and other rocky canyons, where fish only can 
go, is not explained. 

“Much might be sacrificed on the land route,” reported Admiral Richards, of Richards Street, “to 
secure this good anchorage; English Bay is the natural terminus on the Pacific shore.” In the 
Rockies, with unconquerable endurance, that staunch coterie, the stouthearted thoughtful 
surveyor, and his hardy axeman, stumbled and tumbled, struggling with heavy packs on their 
shoulders, over peak and into chasm, around rocks and through devil’s club, to locate a path wide 
enough for two rails, through two hundred miles of the most rugged impregnable terrain in the 
world. All courage is not of the battlefield nor fame of marble halls; these men were men of 
peace; their conquest was of the wilderness; there is no blood on their escutcheon. Finally, in 
1878, the decision was made; Burrard Inlet was chosen as the terminus. 

And what of those in the West; in the Crown Colony of British Columbia? Men asked, “Have you 
seen Bill lately,” and the answer came, “No; he went to Canada”; a nebulous place most had 
heard about; few had ever seen, and some even uncertain where it was, except that it was far to 
the east where the sun rose, far over the Rockies, and reached by going south to Panama. 

“The Builders”—proud title—from general manger, shovelman, powder boss with his black 
powder and its white smoke, and the locomotive engineer, commenced their labours. “Ned” 
Austin, Foreman at Port Moody, built a float of logs, lowered a small locomotive from a steamer’s 
deck to it and he and his gang sweated as they dragged it up the beach. They set off to build 
eastwards to meet Van Horne coming West. Sir William, energetic but most giant, cried 
impatiently, “Push on; push on,” and every mile of steel laid was elixir to his soul. Paul Marmette 
drew plans for bridges, and James Fagan, last of the old officials made notes; both are with us 
tonight. Others, Mr. Abbott, Cambie, Hamilton, Salsbury, Dana, Downie, Wilgress, Johnson have 
passed away, but their kin are here, seated beside you. There is no memorial; no statue bears 
their names. If you would see their monument, buy a railway ticket and ride upon it. 

Finally, one inclement morn, Sir Donald Smith and his few took five minutes off to drive the last 
iron spike; the mighty effort finished. Sir Donald telegraphed the Queen; Victoria the Good. The 
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snow came and hid the C.P.R. from sight; there were no trains that winter; no snow sheds; no 
snow plows. Next spring an army of men shoveled the snow off. Canada, at last, was whole. 

Granville, or “Gastown”—now Vancouver—was one block long; a cluster of primitive dwellings 
ranged about a crescent beach, Water Street from Carrall to Abbott Street, and facing the 
mountains; behind was the blackberry bramble where countless frogs croaked in the swamp, now 
Hastings Street. The other three sides of a twenty acre clearing was towering forest along 
Hastings Street from Victory Square to Pioneer Place. Two men, side by side, stood together; 
high in the tree tops above them the summer zephyrs gently swayed the branches. “Hamilton!” 
said Van Horne, “Hamilton, this is destined to be a great city; perhaps the greatest in Canada, 
and we must see to it that it has a name commensurate with its dignity and importance, and 
VANCOUVER it shall be if I have the ultimate decision.” Hamilton, whose gracious widow died six 
weeks ago, stalked over to one corner of the clearing, now Victory Square, drove a survey stake 
with a nail in the top in the ground, and commenced, in the jungle, to lay out the streets and 
blocks of a new Vancouver; a city on paper; all else was primeval forest. Down came the trees, 
and the tinderous mass, twenty feet thick, lay drying in the summer sun. “Fire, fire.” It was all over 
in forty-five minutes; a grand but awful sight. That night the first Vancouver lay stark to the bare 
black earth. “What rebuilt Vancouver?” I asked, and a pioneer survivor answered, “Faith. It was all 
we had left.” 

Another summer comes; it is the 23rd of May, the eve of the good Queen’s birthday in the Golden 
Jubilee of her reign. The City Council, formally adjourns—“to meet the train.” All Vancouver—
there were not very many—is gathering above or below the cliff at the foot of Howe Street. The 
Indians at “The Mission,” North Vancouver, seeing a long black thing twisting its way along the 
distant shore at the Second Narrows, and hearing the long hooo, hooo, hooo of its whistle, stood 
and pondered; might it be that their legendary snake, Qoitchetahl, reputed to be several hundred 
feet long, was coming back. Locomotive No. 374 kept right on, just as it did today, and then ran 
out on the trestle bridges which spanned sections of the beach. Railway men in overalls can be 
as gracious as palace courtiers. Pete Righter, engine driver, chivalrously stepped back with a 
bow and a “Will you take her in, sir.” Major Johnson, Master Mechanic, beside him, gently 
touched the throttle in token. “Jim” Boyd, the contractor, is nervous; his men barely managed to 
drive the last nail into the new wood plank roadway down Granville Street to the station as the 
train pulled in. The band is there; only five or six musicians, but still, “The band.” And, too, the 
Volunteer Fire Brigade, resplendent in their new fancy helmets worn for the first time. The Mayor 
came in the only cab—horse drawn—in town. It was a tense moment; eager eyes watched a 
distant curve. 
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 [photo annotation:] 

First train in Vancouver.  

Canadian Pacific Railway. Vancouver, 23rd May 1887. Arrival of first transcontinental passenger train at 
foot of Howe St. Locomotive No. 374, wood burner, cordwood, in two feet lengths. Engineer: - Peter 
Righter; Conductor: - Peter Barnhardt. Welcomed by H. Abbott, General Superintendent, C.P.R., and His 
Worship M.A. MacLean, first Mayor of Vancouver; the band and volunteer fire brigade. Locomotive, 57 
feet long, cut blue ribbon as she passed through arch of greenery. Observe that railway ties are not 
ballasted. Planked approach with gin pole on left leads down to scows bringing lumber for planked streets 
from sawmills. Bridge is at exact foot of Howe St. Roadway up to Cordova St passes between station 
building and cliff, but does not show distinctly. Observe big stump of tree clinging to cliff, an indication of 
the steepness of “The Bluff,” and the consequent deep water for big ships, which was the reason for 
locating the precise terminus at this particular place. Observe the shallowness of the shore beyond. The 
top of pile driver on left is about Granville St produced. The big dark shed on right is “Local Freight Shed,” 
and above it can be seen hose tower of Fire Hall on corner of Water & Carrall St. The City Hall, on Powell 
St appears as a large white building above left pillar of arch. The large dark building to left of City Hall is 
Keefer’s Hall on Alexander St. To the left again are the railway trestle bridges and on extreme left, the 
white store and white cookhouse at Hastings Sawmill. The forest edge is along Campbell Ave, and on 
south to False Creek. The Presbyterian Church is behind Fire Hall tower. St. James’ church is behind City 
Hall. A tiny tall building, on top of hill, over end of small wharf is “The School” on Powell St. The Volunteer 
Fire Brigade have two hose reels. The arrival of first trans-Canada passenger train was re-enacted with 
much ceremony, on the same ground, 22 Aug. 1945, and Locomotive 374 presented by the Canadian 
Pacific Railway to the Citizens of Vancouver to be placed in a park. From original glass negative, No. 460.  

City Archives. J.S. Matthews 

“Here she comes; here she comes,” they shouted. A few moments and then, the pride of the 
Canadian Pacific Railway, Locomotive No. 374, wood burner, burst through the arch of greenery 
over the track, cut the blue ribbon, and stopped on a narrow ledge, a track’s width cut out of the 
cliff; the other side dropped into the sea. Miss Sanders, a little belle in a fluffy white frock, 
clambered, hands and knees, down the cliff and asked for a posy from the floral decorations on 
the engine; a kind-hearted trainman plucked them from “374” and said, “Here you are, my dear.” 
The little girl ran off and pressed them in her book and, fifty years later, presented them to the 
City Archives to treasure forever. Here, Mrs. Ramage, hold in your hands once again, please, the 
flowers of that great day. Men, who had never seen a train, climbed aboard; sat in the seats to try 
how they felt; then tried to move them. They tugged and they tugged, but the seats wouldn’t 
budge, so they gave up in disgust; they didn’t know train seats are bolted down. 

Three weeks later, 13th June 1887, the silence on Vancouver Harbour was disturbed by a weird 
howl or moan; a new sound; strange and unrecognised in a solitude accustomed to sailing 
vessels only. Walter Graveley, reading, hurriedly threw down his newspaper and rushed outside 
to rescue the cat. It was a steamer’s whistle, the Abyssinia, with the first C.P.R. passengers from 
Hong Kong, heralding her arrival and the closing of the last gap in the “All Red Route” across the 
world. 

How recent it all is. Frank Plante, first white child born in these parts, sits among us tonight. 
Elizabeth Silvey, first white child born on the site of Vancouver, would have been here had she 
lived two months longer; Mrs. Robert Mackie and Mrs. Harry Logan, daughters of Fitzgerald 
McCleery, first settler, 1862, in Vancouver, now 400,000 persons, honour us with their presence. 
And John Henry Scales, our earliest resident, who arrived the same year, 1859, British Columbia 
was named, will address you in a few minutes. 

For sixty years, year by year, until this their Diamond Jubilee year, the Canadian Pacific Railway 
has been improved and expanded by a successive galaxy of brilliant servants until today, with its 
connections, it encircles the earth. What is the C.P.R.? Not one hundred million dollars; the 
C.P.R. is men. There is no finer transportation system and there are no finer men. We ride 
smoothly along; eating meals from spotless linens as we go; tread on soft carpets; or sleep snug 
beneath the blankets of our berths in warm coaches; giving scant thought to the devoted track 
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patrol, out ahead—twenty minutes—of every passenger train; all through the dark night and the 
freezing chill of the blizzard, searching for a fallen boulder or a slide of snow, that we may pass 
unharmed. Even at this moment, as we sit in brilliance, thousands of faithful servants are at their 
duty. And as to the future, who dare say what changes and improvements the C.P.R. will yet 
devise. 

Confederation united Canada in one respect; the great railway united it in another. Montréal, our 
gateway to the east, was old and grey. Vancouver, a muddy beach in the West, was young and 
vigorous, waiting with arms thrown wide to welcome the vision and endeavour of British and 
Canadian adventurous youth; there were no grey hairs in early Vancouver. Who were these 
pioneers of the railway and of our city. Young men and women of clear minds and pure hearts, 
sustained by the power of their justice and the patience of their strength; they built, not a fort, but 
a garden on the shore. In the short span of their single lives, a great metropolis and world port, 
ten miles wide by five deep, of monumental buildings, luxurious offices, beautiful homes and 
green lawns, of 150 churches, 100 parks, 70 large public schools, 90 private ones, and nine 
hundred miles of streets, rose, like a magic thing, out of a wilderness of forest and swamp, the 
happy home of an enlightened and benevolent people. There is not in history a more splendid 
page of human achievement. The creation of Vancouver was a contribution to mankind; an 
incident in the chronicle of the human race, which must, forever, interest the peoples of all 
nations. It re-oriented world travel and world trade and re-directed the footsteps of millions of all 
colours, creeds and customs, for all time. It can never happen again. The old “Builders” have 
almost gone; the younger ones are now at labour. 

We must accept the Almighty or deny Him; there are no half measures; it is all or nothing. Did all 
this just happen by chance—like the wind. Was there no plan? No master architect? Wave not a 
flag in the street, nor utter boastful shout, but in a quiet closet and on bended knee, remember 
Him through Whom all things first were made; Who knows when a sparrow falls, and give thanks 
for our good fortune to Him Who has directed it. 

J.S. Matthews 
22nd August 1945. 

City Archives,  
City Hall,  
Vancouver, B.C. 
August 22nd, 1945. 
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 [photo annotation:] 

Canadian Pacific Railway Station, July 1886, site of in clearing and stumps. See also C.V. P. Str. 129, 
right sector. This is left sector. Right sector is P. Can. 32, No. 9. Between Seymour and Richards Sts. 
Barque “Robert Kerr,” refugee ship, great fire, 13 June 1886, at anchor. Panorama of two photos. Smoke 
of Moodyville Sawmill slab burner, beyond. Presented, Sep. 1944, by estate, Dr. A.M. Robertson, 
pioneer. City Archives. J.S.M. 
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 [photo annotation:] 

After Great Fire, 13 June 1886. Hollow on right now slope down to station from Granville & Cordova Sts. 
This photo taken from fifty feet west of west side of Howe St. and about 45 feet above inlet, afterwards 
lawn of H. Abbott, C.P.R. superintendent, and now site of Terminal City Club. First train to Vancouver, 23 
May 1887, stopped beneath the bluff on which photographer stood.  

Canadian Pacific Railway Station, site of, July 1886. Taken from top of high bank known as “The Bluff” —
to Indians known as Puckahls, or “white rocks” —at foot of Howe St. Showing C.P.R. right-of-way under 
construction; the trees on water’s edge are at foot of Seymour and Richards Sts. “Princess Louise” Tree, 
in distance at foot of Gore Ave. C.P.R. Wharf, under construction; pile driver at end of Granville St. 
Building with windows on right at foot of Abbott St. High bank, above & beyond pool, now Cordova St. 
See companion photos C.V. P. Wat. 17 and 42, N. Wat. 14 and 24. Brock photo. Presented, 1944, by 
Estate of Dr. A.M. Robertson, C.P.R. pioneer medical officer. 
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MRS. THOMAS FRASER YORK, HUNTINGDON, B.C. 
Memo of conversation with Mrs. Thomas Fraser York, pioneer of British Columbia, 1860, and her 
daughter, Mrs. M. Fleming (of Suite 23, The Angus Apartments, 1531 Davie Street) at Mrs. York’s home, 
close to the interurban railway station at Huntingdon, B.C. Yesterday, Sunday, 10 June 1945, Mrs. 
Matthews and myself journeyed from Vancouver by B.C. Electric Railway to Huntingdon and were very 
graciously met at the station by Mrs. York’s daughter, Mrs. Fleming. We walked about 150 yards to their 
residence hidden beneath huge acacia trees looking very pretty in their white flowers and beneath a 
bower or two of roses red. Mrs. Fraser York, who had most kindly invited us some time ago, opened the 
door as soon as she heard our footsteps, and we entered and sat down in a somewhat early style home 
and commenced to talk at once; we did not waste any time as our return train was due in three hours. 

Mrs. York is eighty-six years of age and remarkably well preserved. She is not very grey, nor have the 
years made many furrows in her cheeks; she wears glasses and can read very well with their aid; writes a 
firm hand; her memory is astonishing. She is very alert and in her conversation does not want for a word 
or a thought. We started in at once to converse.  

Sunday afternoon, 10 June 1945. 

MR. AND MRS. THOMAS FRASER YORK OF SUMAS, B.C.  REVISITS PORT DOUGLAS AFTER 77 
YEARS. 
Mrs. York: “I came to British Columbia in March 1860; no, I do not recall the exact day; we came from San 
Francisco where I was born and went straight to Port Douglas at the head of Harrison Lake. I was up 
there last year; eighty-five years after I had first seen it and seventy years since I had seen it last, when I 
left. We went up in a gasoline motor launch. It was my first visit in seventy-seven years. There is no town 
there now; only a logging camp. We, that is my father and mother and the family, lived at Port Douglas for 
seven years, and then we went to Fort Yale and lived there for seven years and then we went down to 
Chilliwack. I was single, of course, the daughter of William Robert MacDonald and Jane, my mother. 
Then, at Chilliwack, I married Mr. Thomas Fraser York; the Rev. Mr. Thompson was the clergyman, that 
was in 1881. I am an Anglican but he was a Methodist minister. Mr. York was born at Fort Yale, 21st 
October 1858; Trafalgar Day.” (Remarked to Mrs. York that that was the same date that I had been 
wounded in the Capture of Regina Trench, Somme, France.) “This is a photograph of Port Douglas in its 
heyday; quite a town, isn’t it; I got that from Dr. Lamb of the Provincial Archives but this is a sketch of it as 
first I knew it; not very much in 1860. 

“I was born in San Francisco and was only fifteen months old when I came to Port Douglas. Father and 
Mother both came from Scotland, Mother from Glasgow, Father from Aberdeen.” 

CHILLIWACK, B.C. STANLEY, B.C. SUMAS, FIRST SCHOOL. 
“Then I left Chilliwack and went to Stanley in the Cariboo in 1877 and taught school. I taught school on 
Sumas Prairie from 1875 to 1877 and then went to Stanley; I had a teacher’s certificate. I had about ten 
pupils at Sumas, ages six to fifteen, and about twenty at Stanley. I was the first teacher on the Sumas 
Prairie. I had a little school right on one of the ridges at Sumas; nice little school; they have a nine-room 
school there now. The children walked to school; there were no roads, just trails through the tall grass 
and bushes. Sometimes the children came down the slough in a canoe. The little house where I boarded 
while I was teaching, Mr. English’s, when I first came to teach school, is still standing. It is away down on 
the prairie; a man named Chudleigh” (sic) “bought the place and is living there.” 

MR. AND MRS. WILLIAM ROBERT MACDONALD. 
“Mother died in Chilliwack in January 1914 and Father died in Chilliwack on the 6th June 1876. Mother 
was a widow thirty-eight years. Father was forty-seven when he died; both are buried at Chilliwack. My 
husband’s grave” (Thomas Fraser York) “is at Hazelmere Cemetery, below Abbotsford.” 

SUMAS PRAIRIE. MILLIONS OF MOSQUITOES. 
“We lived on Sumas Prairie before the dyke was built and we had millions and millions of mosquitoes; he 
had to have smokes at our doors. We had a house and it was painted white and you could not see the 
white house for the mosquitoes; they covered the house so closely together you could not see the white 
paint. We had to keep smudges of dead leaves and brush and stuff like that, at the front and back doors.” 
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INDIANS. LYNCHING AT SUMAS. 
“When we first came the Indians were quiet; we had no trouble with them. But there was one Indian, Me-
sah-chie Sam; mesahchie is Chinook for ‘bad’; he was a bad Indian. You might have heard of the 
lynching of bad Sam’s son. They lynched a boy; he was the son of Me-sah-chie Sam. The boy or youth 
went over to Nootsack in the United States, and shot a man; it was on a Sunday and his little store was 
open. Then after he had shot the man he came back to British Columbia. He was arrested—he was 
‘Louie Sam’—and they put him in old Mr. York’s store at Sumas for the night and were going to take him 
to New Westminster in the morning. That night about twenty or thirty men came from the United States; 
they were all masked and they demanded Louie Sam, the Indian, from old Mr. York who had charge of 
him for the night. Mr. York refused but the gang of Americans broke in the door and took Louie Sam out 
and went towards the United States boundary line and strung Louie Sam up to a tree; they lynched him.” 

LOUIE SAM’S GUN. 
“Mr. Campbell, who was Justice of the Peace and who had placed Louie Sam in Mr. York’s care went 
there next morning and cut the body down. The lynching was in Canada, about one hundred yards from 
the international boundary. This is the gun he used; rather, the barrel of the gun; the stock all rotted away. 
We did not find this barrel until several years after he was lynched. We were then living out at the 
Boundary line, where our farm was, where the lynching took place. My husband” (Thomas Fraser York) 
“was Customs Officer and Immigration Officer, and when he was clearing off a little spot to build the office 
on, he found the gun. You can have it for your City Archives.” 

DR. FIFER OF YALE. APOTHECARY’S BOWL. 
“There is another relic you can have; it came from Yale. It belonged to Dr. Fifer; you can read about him 
in Higgins’ book, the Mystic Spring. Dr. Fifer used it for pounding medicine. Dr. Fifer was shot by a man 
named Bob Wall.” 

POST OFFICE AND MAIL. SUMAS. JIM YORK, INDIAN. MILLER’S LANDING. SUMAS RIVER. SUMAS 
LAKE. INDIAN CANOES. 
“Our mail? The way, the only way, we got our mail was we had an Indian, an old Indian and he called 
himself ‘Jim York’ after us. Well, the nearest post office was at Miller’s Landing on the Fraser River; David 
Miller was postmaster. The old Indian went once a week for our mail, in an old canoe from Upper Sumas. 
First of all he went down the Sumas River, then across the lake, then down the Sumas River again, and 
then up the Fraser River about two miles to Miller’s Landing. And, queer thing, the only mail he would 
bring would be the Yorks’ mail and the Campbells’ mail; there was other mail there but Jim would bring 
ours only. Of course, he was in our employ; that is, we paid him. Jim would start off early in the morning 
and would be back in time for supper; all day in the canoe.” 

SOCIAL GATHERINGS. CRINOLINES. 
“As for social times. We did not have much entertainment. Once in a while we would have a dance at one 
of the private houses; there were no halls; and all our travelling was done on horseback or democrat 
wagon. At the dances we had music; violin and a small melodeon—a little one—and we would dance; we 
always danced until daylight. Eatables, of course, tea, coffee and three or four kinds of cake and the 
ladies did not smoke. The gentlemen came in their ordinary clothes but many of the ladies wore low neck 
dresses. In those days they wore crinolines; hoops. Dresses were made very, very full; sometimes as 
much as eight yards in a dress. They made good material too; silk, satin and velvet, and the best of 
prints. We made them ourselves; there was no sewing machine; everything was done by hand.” 

ILLNESS. A COLD CANOE TRIP. 
“In case of sickness? I had no doctor when Mabel” (Mrs. Frith) “was born and she was born in New 
Westminster. It was the dead of winter and when she was three weeks old I brought her home. We went 
from New Westminster to Miller’s Landing on the sternwheeler Gladys and when we got to Miller’s 
Landing, old Jim York, the Indian, was there with his canoe. Then we all got into the canoe; my husband, 
Tommy, my young son, eighteen months old and could not walk; and Mabel, three weeks old, and we 
went down the Fraser River, up the Sumas River, across Sumas Lake and up the Sumas River again to 
old Mr. York’s home and there were cakes of ice, good big ones, in the river. There were no doctors 
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nearer than thirty-three miles at New Westminster; there was no doctor at all in Chilliwack. Of course, the 
Maclures had the telegraph office at Matsqui Prairie.” 

BUTTER. 
“Butter? They used to put butter up in barrels of one hundred and fifty pounds. They would make it from 
spring to fall; they took it down to New Westminster twice a year; it was salted and kept in brine; anyway, 
they went twice a year down to New Westminster and we got fifty cents [a] pound for it; it was good 
butter. We got our provisions at the same time; twice a year, at New Westminster; enough to last six 
months.” 

CAMELS AT PORT DOUGLAS. 
“In 1863 there were some camels came to Port Douglas while we were living there. They got them for 
carrying freight up the Cariboo Road but they did not do well. I was about five years old. I stood on the 
side watching them put packs on the camels and a man lifted me up and perched me on top of one of the 
camels for a few seconds; so I’ve been on a camel’s back in British Columbia.” 

SALMON. 
“There were lots of salmon in those days; you could get a big one for ten cents. We used to put down 
about seventy-five salmon every fall. Everyone with a big family always put down a keg of salmon. Of 
course, it used a lot of coarse salt. There were eight in our family, six boys and two girls.” 

DEER, GROUSE, DUCK. INDIANS. BERRIES. PORT DOUGLAS. PITCH STICKS. 
“There were lots of deer, grouse and duck on the Sumas Prairie; we got about all we wanted when we 
wanted it. When we first went to Port Douglas we depended on the Indians for fresh berries; wild 
strawberries, wild gooseberries, wild black caps. We had to depend on the Indians for firewood, berries 
and fish. The Indians would come to the door with pitch sticks or gum sticks; bundles of gumstick or pitch 
wood; we used it for kindling the fire in the morning. The Indian women did the washing; they were good 
servants and generally honest; we got along very well with the Indians; we had no trouble with them. I 
speak Chinook.” 

PORT DOUGLAS CHURCH. PORT YALE CHURCH. 
“There was a little church at Port Douglas; St. Thomas, it was called, and there was a church at Yale, St. 
John’s, and a Sunday school. We had a resident minister, Mr. Gamage; he went back to England and Mr. 
Holmes was the rector at Yale; he died five or six years ago.” 

CANDLES.  
“I never made candles out of fat but Mother did; made them out of tallow; she had a mould, and she used 
a lot of brass cooking utensils.” 

GENEALOGY. 
“There were eight of us in our family; six boys and two girls. Mr. York, my husband, was born on the 21st 
October 1858 and was the first child born in the mainland colony of British Columbia; Vancouver Island 
was a separate colony.” 

Major Matthews: Has that claim to be the first child born in British Columbia ever been disputed, Mrs. 
York? 

Mrs. York: “I have never heard it disputed. We had four children; one son and three daughters. They are: 

1. Thomas Francis York, the eldest; he lives two miles away and has one daughter, Gladys; she is 
in the women’s part of the army. 

2. Mrs. Frith, the eldest daughter; she was fifty-nine when she died on May 2nd 1942; she has one 
son Hubert, in the R.C.A.F.; he has been over Germany fifty-three times; and she has a daughter, 
Mrs. Ralph Herrett, 2925 Kitchener Street, Vancouver. 

3. Mrs. M— Fleming (Angus Apartments, 1531 Davie Street.) She has one daughter, Rena, now 
Mrs. Mayhew. Mrs. Fleming is a widow; her son died in 1936.  
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4. Mrs. George Newton of Los Angeles, California; they are without children. 

Subsequently, Mrs. Fleming prepared for us a most tasty repast and, as our train was due, we bade a 
regretful farewell to this charming old lady, Mrs. York, and, accompanied by Mrs. Fleming, made our way, 
with our bundles, to the station and reached home towards 11 p.m. We also brought with us the 
apothecary’s mixing bowl, the gun barrel and a number of Sumas prairie school photos and family photos, 
all of which have been marked as donated by Mrs. Fraser York. 

MRS. YORK, SENIOR. 
On our way to the station, Mrs. Fleming told us that Mrs. York, senior, is buried on the old farm; that there 
was no graveyard in those days so she was buried on the farm and a small oak tree placed to mark the 
spot. The oak tree has grown and, remarked Mrs. Fleming, “It is bigger than any oak in Victoria.” 

Typed, 11 June 1945—J.S. Matthews. 

Note by Mrs. York, attached to her letter, 18 June, after reading the rough draft of this, sent her for 
approval: “As far as I can see, Major, your write-up is all correct.” 

Having sent the rough draft of notes above recorded to Mrs. York for review on 18 June 1945, she replied 
in a letter: 

PORT DOUGLAS, 1860. 
I came to British Columbia in March, 1860 with my Father, William Robert Macdonald and my 
Mother, Jane Macdonald. We went to Port Douglas, a town at the head of Harrison Lake; it was 
the route at that time to the Cariboo goldfields and was a thriving little town—at that time. 
Transportation was done by stage coach, mule teams, ox-teams, pack trains. For about seven 
years the little town flourished. Then the Cariboo road from Yale was finished and that finished 
Port Douglas; when we left there it was nothing but what you would call now a “ghost town.” 
When we left there were still two families but they left soon after. I went to school there. Mrs. 
Lipsett taught school. There were about ten or twelve scholars; “Government School” but we 
used American books. I have still my Third Reader used in the Douglas School. We had an 
American church and a Mr. Gamage was the vicar; he later went back to England. The reason 
Douglas was abandoned as a road to the Cariboo was that there were too many portages to 
make on that route. 

It was a boat trip from New Westminster to Douglas. Then from Douglas to the Twenty-nine Mile 
House, kept by Mr. Joe Smith who ran the stage from Douglas. There was a lake to cross; what 
was called Tenas Lake; tenas—small, in Chinook. Then another portage, then another lake. The 
lakes were called Tenas Lake, Anderson Lake, Pemberton and Seaton Lake, and, of course, 
there had to be steamers on those lakes. I spent week-ends, when I was quite small at the 
Twenty-nine, Tenas Lake. Mr. and Mrs. Smith, with their son Joe, moved to Clinton and opened 
the Clinton Hotel which is still running. Mary Smith, his daughter, or, I should say, the older Mr. 
Smith’s granddaughter; Joe, the younger, was his son. He has passed away several years ago 
but Mary is still in Clinton and maybe she could give you some information as to old timers. 

Our social life was pleasant, too, in Douglas. We had no afternoon “pink teas.” In summer time 
we had picnics on the lake and, little house dances now and then and riding parties out to the 
Royal Engineer camp, who were building the Cariboo Road. And, in winter time, the lake was 
frozen over and we had skating parties and sleds. Oh, we had happy times in those days. Then 
we had two celebrations a year; always the 24th May and this may seem queer to you, we always 
had a celebration on the 4th July. The reason? In those small towns at that time were a number of 
Americans, especially the business people and they gave so generously to anything and 
everything which came along that it was up to the Britishers to return the compliment. There was 
not any speeching or boasting; everything was for sport and all had a good time. Of course, some 
would indulge towards evening and we had lots of firecrackers. The Royal Salute was given on a 
blacksmith’s anvil, twenty-one guns for both days. Powder was placed on the anvil; a long pole 
with a lighted end was put to it; then the explosion. 
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CAMELS, 1863. 
Yes, it was in Port Douglas the camels came, 1863, and I was hoisted on the back of one, as I 
stood watching them being loaded with their packs. 

In 1867 we bade farewell to dear old Port Douglas and I never saw it again until last September; 
after seventy-seven years absence. I saw no vestige of the old town, but a very very old cherry 
tree and it is a huge one. Nothing but a logging camp now. At the Eighteen Mile Post, on the old 
Douglas Road is the hot springs, St. Agnes as it was called then, kept by a man and his wife, 
name of Stein. Mrs. Stein’s father was one of the Royal Engineers; she was a member of the 
Morey family who lived in Westminster. 

We left Douglas in 1867 in the month of July. And I remember it quite clearly. We left in a scow; 
no steamers then; all were put on the Yale run. I have a picture of Port Douglas, given me by Dr. 
Lamb of the Provincial Archives, as I knew and saw it in 1867. It was a flourishing little town in its 
day. Mr. Trethewey has a logging camp there. Last September I took a trip with Mrs. Fleming, my 
daughter; stayed overnight and slept in a little shack on a boom of logs; you could hear the water 
swishing under the logs. But I enjoyed my trip. Mrs. Trethewey was very kind. We had our meals 
at the camp cook house. They had everything in the way of eats. There were about three or four 
women at the camp when I was there last summer; also two or three children. 

Another thing about those old …… There were not very many white single women. Consequently 
men took Indian wives and breed children were plentiful. But in Douglas, I only remember one 
half-breed boy. But in Yale the school was full of breeds. 

This concludes all about Douglas but I know I have missed a lot. 

YALE, B.C., 1867. 
Now my life in Yale, or Fort Yale as we called it then, was almost like in Douglas. The school was 
larger and they were using British school books. 

Yale was the head of navigation. Steamers from New Westminster plied twice a week, Sunday 
and Thursday; departed Friday and Monday. Transportation of freight and passengers was the 
same; passengers to Cariboo and way points, stage coach; by ox-teams, mule teams, pack 
trains. Mr. J.F. Barnard was the stage-coachman; “Barnard’s Express.” The stage left Yale on 
Monday Morning, returning on Thursday. It met the Barkerville stage down at Clinton. It was 
supposed to be about four hundred miles, so the Yale stage and the Barkerville stage met at 
Clinton; four hundred miles from Yale to Cariboo—Barkerville, as Douglas. 

THE ROAD ENGINES. FIRST TRACTION ENGINES. 
We had two celebrations in Yale; 24th May and 4th July. Sports only; no speeches or boasting. It 
was in Yale I first saw road engines. J.F. Barnard brought, I think it was, six engines and six 
engineers. These road engines were to be used in place of oxen and mules for drawing the heavy 
loaded covered wagons. So, one morning all Yale was up bright and early (as the saying is, all 
hands and the cook) to see them start. Well, as long as the way was even and not hilly it, or they 
worked all right. But when they began, or tried, when they came to the steep grades, then of 
course, they didn’t, so they had to go back to mules and ox-trains again. Mr. Barnard, I believe, 
disposed of the six engines to some mills in Vancouver at Moodyville or Hastings. All the 
engineers but one went back to Scotland. The one who stayed behind, a Mr. Jim McArthur, died 
in Vancouver a few years ago. So, like the camels, they were a failure. 

TINGLEY OF YALE. BARNARD’S EXPRESS. 
There was a family who lived in Yale by the name of TIngley. Mr. Tingley was driver for Barnard’s 
Express Company; later on he became a partner. Then it became Barnard, Tingley and Hamilton 
or “B-X” it was called. His son, Fred C. Tingley was born in Yale in 1873. He was only five months 
old when I saw him last; if you should come in contact with him—he lives in Vancouver—
remember me to him. 
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Social affairs in Yale were the same as in Douglas. We didn’t say dances in those days; we called 
them balls. Picnics and sometimes a concert with lantern slides. And, in Yale, the young men 
went around about twelve o’clock New Year’s Even, singing “All’s Well.” New Year’s Day they 
called at all the homes and had refreshments. Our refreshments, when anyone called on 
anybody, the hostess served wine and rich fruit or pound cake. Nowadays it is tea, coffee and 
some very poor cake or a stale doughnut and, in some cases, very poor tea. 

This concludes all about Yale. All I have told just includes Douglas and Yale. But I think I could fill 
a book.  

We left Yale in December 1874 and came to Chilliwack. In the year 1875 I came to Upper Sumas 
to teach school. I was the first teacher at Upper Sumas School. I taught until 1877, when I went 
back to Chilliwack. 

CHILLIWACK. PORT DOUGLAS. FORT YALE. 
My life in Chilliwack was not very long. I disliked Chilliwack; their mode of living was altogether 
different to Port Douglas and Fort Yale. For one thing, they were so religious. Mostly all were 
Wesleyan Methodist. I went to school there for awhile and in 1875 I came to Upper Sumas to 
teach and taught until 1877. Then, in July of that year I went up to the Cariboo and taught school 
at Stanley. Left there in autumn of 1878 and came home to Chilliwack. 

In the year 1880, on the 9th November, I married my husband, Thomas Fraser York. Then went 
back to Yale to live. Left Yale again in 1881 and came with my husband to make my home at 
Upper Sumas and have lived here ever since, with the exception of two years when I lived in 
Bellingham, U.S.A., called Whatcom at that time. 

Doctors were scarce and far between in all three places. Chilliwack did have one for awhile. 

THOMAS FRASER YORK. 
My husband, Thomas Fraser York was born in Fort Yale, October 21st, Trafalgar Day, 1858. He 
lived there until 1865. Then the family moved to Upper Sumas, B.C. The old people remained 
there until they passed away. Mrs. York September 14th, 1886 and Mr. T. York, 23rd December 
1893. 

Note: the manuscript is unsigned. J.S. Matthews. 

MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MR. GLENDOWER K. ALLEN, 5501 MACKENZIE STREET, 
PRESIDENT, VANCOUVER GLADIOLUS SOCIETY (SEE THAT DOCKET.) MR. ALLEN VERY KINDLY 
CALLED AT THE CITY ARCHIVES THIS MORNING, 25 JULY 1945. 
GROWING PLANTS WITHOUT SOIL. 
Note: in 1944, Mr. Allen published, in pamphlet form, a treatise entitled “Growing Plants Without Soil.” 
$1.00. 

Mr. Allen: “I first started growing plants without soil in 1918 in Calgary while I was in the employ of the 
Alberta Government telephone, as a hobby. In 1924 I came to Vancouver and experimented until 1933; 
then I opened up large greenhouses on a commercial basis, situated at 6559 Argyle Street, South 
Vancouver. There I commercialised the growing of tomatoes in torpedo gravel. Torpedo gravel is a 
cracked pea gravel. My fruit from 1933 to 1940 has been analysed at the Experimental Farm, Ottawa, 
and each year the fruit has been higher in nutrition value, plus all vitamin, at least twenty-five percent, 
compared with the Ontario and Utah greenhouse tomatoes. For three years running I have sent five 
crates of greenhouse tomatoes, grown without soil, to the Vancouver General Hospital and the 
authorities, the dieticians, say that the patients prefer them to any other kind of grown tomatoes.” 

Major Matthews: Has anyone else in Vancouver preceded you in the growth of vegetables without soil? 

Mr. Allen: “No, no one. Not any one; I was the first. In Calgary, in 1918, I had read small articles on it and 
on one of my visits to Edmonton, I met on the train a celebrated German by the name of Dr. J.S. 
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Krausser, originally from Düsseldorf, Germany. We got into conversation and he gave me two formulas to 
work out and since then I have been in correspondence with him; he is now in Pasadena, California, 
President of the College of Technology, where they have, on an average, every year, about six thousand 
students, all being taught this method of plant life. In 1940 I gave up the greenhouse due to labour 
shortage and difficulties getting the required chemicals. I then built a small greenhouse at my present 
residence, 5501 Mackenzie Street, where I am carrying on some very interesting experiments and 
research work along the line of soilless growths, with inerts such as gravels, coarse sand, navvy jack, 
cinders, and even sawdust. I have had one of my best crops from sawdust. 

“Now, here, this is important: I am the only man recognised by the Dominion Government in the research 
work of three new drugs; one is colchicine; the next is chloral-hydrate and the third is acenamalaphene. 
These drugs are to assist the breaking up of the chromosomes in the cells of the plant, in other words, to 
sterilise and bring about better, larger and disease-resistant plans. As far as vegetables are concerned, 
the important part of this work is the necessity of seeds being sterilised through this process which, 
eventually, will decrease the diseases which are now attacking the vegetables plants in the garden.” 

MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MR. GLENDOWER K. ALLEN OF 5501 MACKENZIE STREET 
WHO KINDLY CALLED AT THE CITY ARCHIVES THIS MORNING, 25 JULY 1945. 
VANCOUVER GLADIOLUS SOCIETY. GREAT VANCOUVER GLADIOLUS SOCIETY. 
Mr. Allen: “We gave up using the name of Greater Vancouver Gladiolus Society; we found the ‘Greater’ 
had no special meaning or advantage. 

“The Vancouver Gladiolus Society started four years ago, in 1941, but the first year we did not issue a 
printed programme. In 1941 and 1942 we did not hold an exhibition. There were four men, Mr. W.H. 
Bayley, Mr. H. Tarrant, Mr. Thomas Alex and Mr. George Lake; that’s four. They found it very difficult to 
get members and they called me” (G.K. Allen) “up on the phone in December 1942 and asked me if I 
would take over.” 

Major Matthews: Why did they turn to you? 

Mr. Allen: “Well, because I was a kind of expert; I am a professional commercial grower. I have a place 
out in Burnaby, one in Kerrisdale and one in Capilano; an acre in Burnaby, one eighth of an acre up in 
Capilano; and five city lots up in Kerrisdale where I live and I grow bulbs on all of them; all three. At that 
stage, December 1942, they had fifteen members. I called a meeting in the Vancouver Province 
boardroom on February 15th, 1943, and we had forty-six interested parties. I think that evening we added 
thirty-eight members. Then we called another meeting in March and arranged for the 1943 show which 
took place in the I.O.O.F. Hall at the corner of Seventh and Main. It lasted two days and we had about 
ninety exhibitors; anyway, just under one hundred. All the prizes, value prizes, were donated, and we had 
plenty. In October of 1943, the new President, Mr. A.H. Gray, was elected. The first president was Mr. 
Bayley, and the second was A.H. Gray, and the third was myself” (G.K. Allen.) 

“Here is an interesting thing. In October of 1944, which is our annual meeting, when I was elected 
president, my objective was one hundred and fifty members and at our show on August 10 and 11, 1944, 
we climbed up to 135 paid up members; it costs one dollar membership fee. 

“Mr. Bayley still exhibits; he is a compositor on the Vancouver Province, but Mr. Gray, our second 
president, we do not know where he is; a strange thing happened, it is all we can say, that the day before 
the second exhibition he disappeared from Vancouver and we have not heard from him since. He was a 
candy maker. 

“In our 1944 show in the Georgian Room, Hudson’s Bay Co. store, we had an exhibition for competition, 
three thousand three hundred blooms. This year I have worked hard to make it a success and I shall be 
disappointed if we have less than five thousand blooms and many from the United States. To date, we 
have never had exhibitors from elsewhere than British Columbia.” 
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THE FIRST BITUMINOUS ROCK PAVING. DONALD (DAN) MCGILLIVRAY. ARMSTRONG AND 
MORRISON. 
Rough note, in pencil, from W.C. Ditmars, for many years associated with Messrs. Armstrong and 
Morrison, contractors, etc., etc. 

Dear Major. This is a letter from Mr. Robert Armstrong, re the subject of the first paving in 
Vancouver. He was on the job and knows about it. Please return when through. 

     D. 

Sardis, September 1st, 1945 

Dear Will: 

Your letter of August 30th received this morning, and was pleased to hear from you. I 
should have written you before but I was under the weather with lumbago in my back so only 
write when I have to, but I am pleased to say I am around again, and can drive a car and it 
doesn’t bother me at all. 

Now about the street paving. There wasn’t any done in 1891; we started in the spring of 
1892. Hugh Campbell was with us then; we started just where you said at the west end of 
Cordova street. Hughie Campbell was with us then; he was on the fire department. In 1891 we 
paved Cordova from Granville to Carrall street; Hastings street from Cambie to Granville, Cambie 
street from Hastings to Water; Abbott street from Hastings to Water, and Carrall from Pender 
street, or as it was called at that time Dupont to Water street. 

Yes; the yard was at the south west corner of Carrall and Hastings streets, and the 
bituminous rock was heated in a big tank with a steam jacket; there was so many pounds of 
steam in the jacket, and so many pounds of steam in with the rock. The curb stone was all 
granite, and was all hand cut in the same yard on the west side, just along the C.P.R. track. As 
you say, the hot bituminous rock was hauled to the work in steel lined dump carts with heavy 
canvas covers to keep the material hot until it arrived on the job. 

The above covers one page in handwriting; the next page was not sent to us by Mr. Ditmars. 

20 OCTOBER 1945 – FIRST WHITE WOMAN ON BURRARD INLET. 
Memo of conversation with Mrs. J.G.L. Abbott, of 1559 Beach Avenue (over the phone), daughter of Mr. 
and Mrs. R.H. Alexander, of the Hastings Sawmill. 

FIRST WHITE WOMAN ON BURRARD INLET. MRS. R.H. ALEXANDER. 
Mrs. Abbott: “Mother often used to tell me, she was the first white woman here. She was all alone at 
Hastings Sawmill.” (Note: R.H. Alexander, afterwards manager of the Hastings Sawmill, married Miss 
Emma Tammadge of London, England, at Victoria in 1867. He came to Vancouver in 1870, and, while 
there is a chance there was some white woman here before 1870, it is very unlikely. In 1870 all that area 
at the back of Hastings Sawmill was a few acres of fallen forest, lying in wild confusion as it had crashed 
down; there was no clearing of any sort. 
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Item # EarlyVan_v5_054 

 [photo annotation:] 

Hastings Sawmill School, first school, 1873, whites and Indians. Mr. Palmer, teacher, on walk, June 11th 
1886. 
Think building was demolished as it was in the way of C.P.R. construction. 
Alderman Peter Cordiner’s cottage at rear on right. 
This photo was taken Friday June 11th 1886—two days before Great Fire. 
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CONVERSATION WITH ROBERT VERNON PALMER, 2020 WEST 5TH AVENUE, VANCOUVER, 
BROTHER OF JOSEPH WILLIAM PALMER, THE LAST SCHOOL TEACHER AT THE HASTINGS 
SAWMILL SCHOOL, 1886, 28 MAY 1942. 
J.W. PALMER. HASTINGS MILL SCHOOL, 1886. 
Mr. Palmer said: “These two photographs are of my brother Joe; this one, by Brock and Co., was taken 
shortly after the Great Fire, 1886, and most likely by Harry Devine, pioneer photographer. My brother was 
born in the County of Middlesex, Ontario; he was seven years older than myself, and I am seventy-nine 
now. I was born same place, May 1st, 1863. Our parents were Francis McLearoth Palmer, who was born 
on a ship in the Indian Ocean; he was in the army, and at one time marched in the bodyguard of Queen 
Victoria. Mother was born in Suffolk, England, and her maiden name was Mary Jane Dark. There were 
four girls and six boys in the family, and I was the youngest boy. Father and Mother came to Canada in 
the early, early days, and took up a farm in the woods, or forest, of Middlesex. Father had a pension; I 
suppose army pension. Three boys, Robert, Joseph and Henry, came west to Vancouver and stayed; 
also Samuel; Francis, another brother, was here for a few days and went away to Marshfield down in 
Oregon. Lucy, my sister, and Emily, came to Vancouver; Lucy was Mrs. Adams Edwards when she came 
here; Emily was single, and married Capt. George Golightley, master mariner, ship Duke of Argyle, so 
that out of the ten children, five came to B.C. Mother and Father also came out, after they sold their farm 
and were aged. Father died first, about 1910, and is buried in Mountain View Cemetery; Mother went to 
Portland to live with brother Henry, and died there about ten years after. Of the five children, Joseph died 
back east, Lucy went to Victoria where she had a stationery business and died there, and Emily is still 
living in Seattle. She is the youngest of the family. We belonged to the First Baptist Church, Victoria, in 
early days. 

“This other photograph by Smith of Detroit, Michigan, shows brother Joe with his bride on their wedding 
day. He went east to some place in the States, Maryland I think it was, and studied to be a medical 
doctor; he passed, and he practiced in Detroit, and he had a fine place; one of the best medical offices in 
Detroit. He married Miss” [blank] “and they had two children, two boys, I forget their names but one, I 
think, is a lawyer. I think they are in” [blank.] 

R.V. PALMER CAME TO VANCOUVER BY HORSE AND FOOT. 
“As for myself, I got here by C.P.R. part of the way, as far as Calgary. Then from Calgary we rode on flat 
cars loaded with steel rails, and navvy jacks as far as the end of the track. At Calgary we, that is my 
brother Samuel and myself, boarded the flat cars at four o’clock in the morning; it was colder than 
Greenland; it was early 1885. I left Moosejaw when the red coats were going out from Moosejaw to Duck 
Lake to get Riel. Then we went right to Calgary by C.P.R., and on into the Rockies on the flat cars. We 
were boys, and out for fun, and were going to the ‘Great Terminal’ in the west of the Canadian Pacific 
Railway.” 

STONEY CREEK INDIANS. 
“They let us off at Stoney Creek bridge, which was under construction, and then we packed our 
provisions and our blankets, and started off on foot towards the Columbia Valley and river. We came to a 
farm; we heard the geese squawking, so we got our guns ready and we made up our minds we would 
have a goose for dinner, but before we could get a shot they splashed the water, and away they went; 
they made an awful splash as they rose; they were wild geese.” 

C.P.R. A TOTE ROAD. 
“The road that we travelled was part of a tote rode; the tote trail they toted the provisions in for the men 
through the mountains. The road was in some places good, but in others very muddy and wet; awfully 
hard work travelling for men carrying a heavy load; we had a great big buffalo robe, and a gun and a big 
Colts retriever, and a hatchet, and our loads were heavy.” 

SNOW SLIDES. 
“After we had travelled several days going west, we began to hear the snow slides, the avalanches 
coming down, a continuous sort of thunder storm roar coming down every five or ten minutes; those snow 
slides coming down the mountain, and we were wondering when one was going to come down on top of 
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us. The mountain peaks were very high and covered with deep snow; one slide had come down a few 
weeks before we crossed, and there were five men under it. Their corpses were found, but the bears had 
eaten their heads off.” 

REVELSTOKE, A LOG HUT HAMLET. GAMBLERS AND DESPERADOES. 
“Then we got down to the Columbia River and stayed a day or so. The population there—I suppose that 
is Revelstoke now—was about two or three hundred, and of course miners and prospectors and a few 
stores, and one barber shop there. The loggers lived in huts built of logs, the huts were about sixteen foot 
square, and they played poker and blackjack, and had the money stacked up in the middle of the table, 
and sight-seeing around the logger’s huts, anyway huts or cabins or whatever you call them, they sat 
there and played blackjack and poker all day long, with the money stacked in the middle of the table, and 
never washed themselves, and hardly ever cut their hair, just sat in great big red and blue jackets, dirty, 
they looked like goats or something; just sat around all day playing blackjack. 

“In one of these huts there was a round table filled with gamblers; they were playing for stakes and the 
money was heaped up in the centre of the table. They didn’t look as if they ever prospected; they looked 
as though they spent all their days gambling. There was a nigger in one of them, and he sat there—he 
looked as though he was the attendant—and his rifle was close beside him in the corner of the hut. It 
looked to me as though they were a gang of desperadoes there to shoot up travellers as they went 
through the mountains and take what they could from them.” 

INDIAN PACK PONIES. 
“Our packs got so heavy that we had to buy a couple of ponies from the Indians; that was at the same 
place; we paid twenty-five dollars each for the ponies; my brother bought the pack saddles; they wouldn’t 
cost much, perhaps five dollars for the two. We were ferried across the river, and then I told my brother 
Sam, ‘Now,’ I says, ‘those people are desperadoes, and they have that nigger with the rifle, and we shall 
have to watch out or that nigger will get us going through the trail in the mountains.’ 

“So we took our blankets and we packed two ponies, and an old miner come along used to packing, and 
he says, ‘Why, boys, you’ve never packed a pony before; now, take all the sack stuff off the ponies,’ and 
we took it off and he put the packs on right. And then he tightened up the cinch so tight I thought perhaps 
the pony would not be able to breathe or get along, but we found out it was all right, and the pony got 
along fine.” 

HIGHWAY ROBBER. 
“Well, so we had started on our way again. When we got out about a mile I said to my brother, ‘Now you 
watch on your side, and I’ll watch on my side.’ We were riding abreast. I was on the left. ‘We’ll be ready 
for that nigger, and be on our guard.’ A big fire had burnt out all one side, and there were big black logs 
and small trees here and there, lying on the ground, but covered with snow about a foot deep. So I saw 
my brother wasn’t watching very good on his side; anybody could get a level on him and shoot him, so I 
said to myself, ‘I’ll keep watch on both sides, for I know that nigger is there to get us.’ We had sixteen 
hundred dollars in cash on us. My brother had seven hundred and fifty sewed in his shirt, and I had seven 
hundred and fifty sewed in my shirt. We hadn’t gone very much further when I saw this nigger with his rifle 
behind one of those big rocks, and he had it trained on us; if we had gone another ten or fifteen feet he 
would have had the two of us in a line, and killed both of us with one bullet. When I saw him, he ducked 
behind a log, so I said to my brother, ‘He was going to get us; now we will get him.’ So my brother says, 
‘No; we’re safe now; we’d better go on.’ If I had not seen him neither of us would have come through, and 
I should not be here today. 

“Protection in the mountains was rare; there might have been one or two mounted police in the whole 
valley.” 

C.P.R. A TOTE ROAD. 
“Then we went up the west side of the Columbia River, and gradually ascended the range of mountains; 
the trail was very wet and muddy and as we ascended it got colder; there was very seldom a place to 
sleep; we came to a place where the trees had fallen across the tote road; we could not get our ponies 
through; we had to go away around in the bush to get our ponies through. So we sold the ponies for thirty 
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dollars apiece, and started out on foot again. I remember selling them, but who to, or where, I don’t recall. 
It was so inconvenient with the ponies; you had to swim the rivers, and the trees were all blown across 
the tote road, and we had to go away around through the bush with the ponies; it was hard work. So we 
swam one river with them, but after that we sold them.” 

SHUSWAP LAKE. 
“Well, then we got to the top of the range, and it was cold and no covering; we could not sleep; shivered 
all night. Then we came down to the Shuswap Valley; the Okanagan and the Thompson River. Oh, it took 
us days and days and days getting through there. We came to the Shuswap Lake, three or four small 
lakes; they had small scows, and we jumped aboard, and they had great big long paddles, and we rowed 
ourselves across the lakes. 

“Finally we came down the Thompson River to Kamloops on a sternwheeler, and we heard the C.P.R. 
had let a contract to an American firm called the Onderdonk firm to build the C.P.R. track from the coast 
into the interior. So we made up our minds that when we came to the track coming in from the coast, we 
would take the track to Port Moody, which was then the C.P.R. terminal of the great continental railway. 
There was no thought of Vancouver being the terminal at that time.” 

ASHCROFT, B.C. PORT MOODY BOOMING. JOSEPH W. PALMER, 1885. LAST SCHOOLMASTER, 
HASTINGS MILL. 
“Then we came into the cattle ranch district, and the half-breeds; whitemen had married squaws and had 
half-breed families about them, and we met the Semlins, the member of parliament, and he was married 
to an Indian woman, and we were talking to his sons; he was supposed to be one of the rich men up 
there in those days among the cattle men. Then after we came down the Thompson River, and caught up 
to where the Onderdonk railway was built, we took caboose on the train to Port Moody; a little better at 
this end than flat cars; we got a caboose ride, and then we got into Hope. We landed in Port Moody, and 
met our brother Joseph there, who had come around by, I think, the Union Pacific, San Francisco, and 
boat up to Victoria. He had just landed in Victoria, and came over to Port Moody to meet us. He was not 
teaching then at Hastings Sawmill. We arrived at Port Moody early in the spring of 1885, not 1886, but 
spring of 1885. There was no town at Vancouver, but Port Moody was supposed to be booming; they 
were selling town lots and real estate men were there, but it was all woods and trees, but they were 
selling lots all the same, covered with trees.” 

PORT MOODY DISAPPOINTING. COAL HARBOUR. 
“So when we saw the harbour we said, ‘We’re not going to stop; there’s not going to be a big city here. 
There’s no harbour; the harbour is too small; we won’t invest our money here.’ So we waited through the 
summer to see what future developments the C.P.R. would make. They started to build a wharf at Port 
Moody for the steamships to land their freight. But all of a sudden, they quit, and the rumour was spread 
that they were going to leave Port Moody and go to the harbour at Coal Harbour. But the real estate men 
and the big men at Port Moody, with investments there said, ‘No. A ship can’t anchor in Coal Harbour or 
Burrard Inlet; it would be blown ashore; it’s too open; would be smashed up and wrecked.’ So we 
procured a boat, and rowed twelve miles up the inlet to see for ourselves and we considered it a beautiful 
harbour, so we said, ‘We’ll not stay at Port Moody; we’ll get out.’ There was no place in ‘Gastown’ or 
Hastings Sawmill to start in business of any kind; it was too young. We went over to New Westminster 
which was quite a little town at that time, and started early in 1886 in New Westminster, and lived there. 
We were going into the teaming business.” 

HORSE AND TEAMS. 
“By this time we heard that the C.P.R. had definitely decided to build their terminal at Burrard Inlet, so we 
made up our minds that we would be the first to get into ‘Gastown’—with our teams. So we went up 
country to beyond Hope and got two teams of ranch horses, and had harness made in New Westminster 
for them. We came down river part on boat and part on trail. We waited in New Westminster until there 
was a better road to Gastown, and when the road was completed we drove our teams over, and started in 
business hauling lumber and slabs from the Hastings Sawmill.” 
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MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH ENVOY THOMAS JAMES MCGILL AND MRS. MCGILL, NÉE 
LAURA AIKENHEAD, BOTH OF THE SALVATION ARMY, NOW OF 4586 WEST SIXTH AVENUE, 
WHO VERY KINDLY CALLED AT THE CITY ARCHIVES THIS AFTERNOON, 11 SEPTEMBER 1945. 
Mrs. McGill came carrying a small parcel and Envoy McGill drew a small book from his pocket. 

SALVATION ARMY. TAMBOURINE. GEORGE HODSON. 
Mrs. McGill: “This is not my tambourine; it belongs to Mrs. George Hodson, wife of Sergeant-Major 
Hodson of the Salvation Army Citadel on Gore Avenue; he has been Sergeant-Major for twenty-five 
years; they live at 4383 West 15th Avenue. Mrs. Hodson gave it to me to bring to you for your Archives. I 
asked Sergeant-Major Hodson if he had a spare tambourine he could spare, and the next time I saw him 
he said Mrs. Hodson would give hers. Here it is.” 

HALLELUJAH LASSIES. TIMBRELS. 
“We had an early officer, his name was Archer, he could play the tambourine wonderfully well; the 
tambourine used to be used on the march and during the testimony meeting. They don’t use it much now; 
the brass band takes its place; but in small towns they still use the tambourine; they use it over at North 
Vancouver. There is a woman soldier at the Citadel who plays the tambourine every Wednesday night. 
They used them in bible times. Mariam played the timbrels when they got through the Red Sea, and were 
rejoicing that the enemy had been drowned and they had escaped; we suppose that the timbrels were the 
same as the tambourine. I think the word tambourine is American. In ancient days the maidens played the 
timbrels on the march; in more recent days, the Hallelujah Lassies of the Salvation Army, but they don’t 
do it so frequently now. You must thank Mrs. George Hodson for the tambourine.” 

SALVATION ARMY SONG BOOK. SALVATION ARMY IN YUKON. 
Envoy McGill: “This is my song book, one of the early ones. I bought [it] in Winnipeg about 1890 where I 
was a Salvation Army Officer. First I was cadet, then lieutenant, then captain, then ensign, and then 
adjutant. I was adjutant in the Klondike in 1898. I was one of the pioneer Salvation Army party who went 
over the Chilcoot Pass to establish the Army in Dawson, Y.T. The party started in Toronto; I joined them 
in Winnipeg, and we went by the steamer Tees from Vancouver to Skagway, then around to Dyea to get 
to the Chilcoot Pass route for Dawson.” 

COMMANDER EVA BOOTH. GENERAL WILLIAM BOOTH. 
“Commander Eva Booth, she was General William Booth’s daughter, she was with the party; she was in 
charge of Canada at the time; it was Commander Eva Booth who actually sent the party to the Klondike. 
When General Booth was in Seattle before the ‘Rush’ started, he saw so many people getting ready and 
heading for the Klondike, so he told his daughter to organise a party and send them north to the gold 
fields.” 

SALVATION ARMY, YUKON, 1898. KLONDIKE RUSH. 
“The party was in charge of Adjutant George Dowell, and I was second in command, there was Ensign 
Morris, and Ensign Bloss, and Captain Keenie, and Captain Lecocq, and the two women were Rebecca 
Hennery and a Mrs. Lieutenant Aitken, who was a sort of nurse. Rebecca Hennery was Staff Captain. We 
had two detachable canoes, and we, that is the six men and two women, carried our packs and the two 
canoes, taken apart in three pieces, and we carried the lots over the Pass on our backs. That was the 
heaviest job I ever had in my life. We put the canoes together and had the time of our life in all those 
lakes, and the Thirty Mile River, and the Fifty Mile River. It was June; we were three weeks on the way; 
we must have left Winnipeg some time in the early part of May 1898. At the time it was the most northerly 
post the Salvation Army ever had, and I know of nothing further north since.” 

SALVATION ARMY, DAWSON, Y.T. WELCOME AND ESTABLISHMENT. 
“When we got to Dawson we got the most amazing welcome. I had composed a Klondike Song; here it is; 
this is a copy of it; I composed it in Winnipeg. We were without what is called a ‘Taking’ song, and as I 
was a fairly good singer, I made up my mind that I would compose a song, and we sung it at all the 
meetings we had all the way to Dawson. But when we got to Dawson I venture to say there were about 
five hundred men—hardly a woman in sight—crowded on the main street, which was sawdust, and they 
lined the river bank. Why! The first collection was something like seventy dollars. We got a wonderful 
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reception. We had our tents with us, and we put them up on a piece of ground where the police told us to 
go and place them; the women had a small tent; the men had a big one; both square tents about twelve 
feet by sixteen feet. There were so many incidents in connection with the Dawson experiences that I 
really don’t know where to start. Well, we went up river to cut logs to build a barracks, and we made them 
into a raft, but we didn’t know much about working a raft. We floated down river, but when we were just 
about to Dawson we were on the opposite side to what we wanted to be, opposite side to Dawson City. 
The river is very wide there, and very swift. We managed to get snubbed a few miles down river, and then 
we took our canoes, and put bolsters across each end of the canoes, and loaded the logs on each side, 
and two men began to row, and one to steer, and the first thing to do was to cross the river. So we got 
across and between rowing and towing we managed to get our logs up past the City again, and this time 
on the bank we wanted them. Then we repeated that operation again and again until we got every log 
back. We were young and strong. 

“The Salvation Army stayed in Dawson for years, and the first officers were followed by a regular 
succession of others.  

SALVATION ARMY, SKAGWAY, ALASKA. 
Mrs. McGill: “My husband” (Envoy McGill) “was farewelled from Dawson and sent to open up Skagway, 
and that is where I came into the picture. We were married in Victoria. I was Miss Laura Aikenhead, and 
we met in Victoria, and were married in the old Presbyterian Church—it was an Army wedding—we got 
the use of the church, and Dr. Campbell, Presbyterian minister, married us.” 

THE SALVATION ARMY AND THE “KLONDIKE RUSH,” 1898. 
Note: in May 1898, a party of eight members of the Salvation Army, six men and two women, left Toronto 
and Winnipeg to proceed via Vancouver, the steamship Tees, Skagway, Dyea, the Chilcoot Pass, lakes, 
Thirty Mile River and Fifty Mile River, to establish the Salvation Army in Dawson, Yukon Territory. Ensign 
Thomas James McGill was adjutant, and, lacking a song with a “swing” in it, he composed his own. It was 
sung, with gusto, at their meetings en route. Afterwards his party built their own log cabin at Dawson, 
hewing the logs with their own hands, floating them down river to the site, and then erecting the log cabin 
themselves. Their arrival at Dawson met with a most cordial and spontaneous welcome from a large 
crowd, probably five hundred, gold miners. 

In August 1945, Envoy and Mrs. McGill participated in the solemn ceremony of the rededication of 
Hallelujah Point, Stanley Park, 22 August 1945, where Major Matthews, City Archivist, made their 
acquaintanceship. On 15 September following, Envoy McGill gave Major Matthews a manuscript of the 
song, McGill’s Klondike Song. 

MCGILL’S KLONDYKE SONG 
Tune: “We’re Going Back to Dixie” 

When the General was in Seattle 
Amid the noise and smoke of battle,  
His heart went out in pity for the North, 
The Commissioner took in the situation, 
And arranged this expedition; 
So now we’re off to Klondyke for all we’re worth. 

Chorus 
We’re going to the Klondyke (repeat) 
We’re going after sinners in that land 
We’re happy lads and lassies 
We’re not afraid of passes 
We’re going to the Klondyke at God’s command. 

Here’s Dowell, an old-timer, 
And Keeney, he’s a climber, 
Lecocq and Bloss have been on men-of-war. 
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McGill is an old farmer, 
And Morris, he’s a charmer, 
And Ellery and Aiken are all there. (Chorus.) 

There’s lack of woman’s nursing, 
There’s lack of woman’s tears, 
A famine of their love and tender care. 
So open up your purses; assist those two brave nurses. 
Who for Jesus’ sake are going right up there. (Chorus.) 

Composed by Thos. J. McGill, in Brandon, Manitoba, 1898. 

18 SEPTEMBER 1945 – MOODYVILLE, BURRARD INLET. EARLY FIRE PROTECTION. 
Memo of conversation, over the phone, with Miss Muriel Crakanthorp, R.C.A.F. No. 2 Equipment Depot, 
Indian Reserve, False Creek, only daughter of Mrs. Alice Crakanthorp, 1406 Davie Street, pioneer of 
Burrard Inlet, 1873; first at Hastings Sawmill, 1873, and afterwards at Moodyville Sawmill, 18 September 
1945. 

MOODYVILLE SAWMILL. MOODYVILLE, B.C. FIRE PROTECTION. 
Miss Muriel Crakanthorp: “Mother says to tell you that there was no fire brigade at Moodyville; all they had 
was barrels and buckets of water on top of the roof of the sawmill; the buckets had something painted on 
them like ‘Property of Moodyville Sawmill’; something like that. 

“In the case of fire, the men of the mill were supposed to rush up on top of the mill and man the buckets. 
There was lots of water at Moodyville, and there were very few fires. If a house caught on fire, the men all 
gathered and put it out with buckets; bucket brigade. There was no hose, or fire brigade; just buckets.” 

As told to me. J.S. Matthews. 

CONVERSATION, SAME DAY, WITH MR. CALVIN PATTERSON, BROTHER, MRS. ALICE 
CRAKANTHORP, PROPRIETOR, CIGAR STAND, HOTEL GEORGIA. 
MOODYVILLE SAWMILL. MOODYVILLE, B.C. FIRE PROTECTION. 
Mr. Patterson: “Oh, they had some hose, and hose reels about the sawmill too.” 

MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MR. THEODORE BRYANT, LADYSMITH, B.C., 24 SEPTEMBER 
1945. 
Son of the Rev. Cornelius Bryant, minister of the (Wesleyan) Methodist Church, more commonly known 
as the “Indian Church” at Granville, or “Gastown” from 1878 to 1881. Mr. Bryant is on a visit to Vancouver; 
has been up to Prince Rupert for a trip; also to Ashcroft, and is on his way home, and spent this afternoon 
in the City Archives. Despite his age he is sound of mind and thought, and as active as a cricket. He has 
been a postmaster over fifty years; first at Wellington, Vancouver Island, for thirteen years and eight 
months, and at Ladysmith since 1907. 

ROLLER SKATING RINK. HASTINGS TOWNSITE. GEORGE BLACK. 
Mr. Bryant: “It was earlier than 1881 that George Black had a skating rink, roller skates, at Hastings, 
because Father was here from 1878 to 1881, and it was before we left. George Black used to get a 
wagon, fill it with straw, and come down to Granville, or ‘Gastown’ as they call it now, and pile all the 
children he could get into the wagon; sit us on the straw, and take us up to Hastings Townsite to his 
skating rink.” 

GRANVILLE HOTEL. SULLIVANS OF GRANVILLE. MAGEE BROS. STORE. JOSEPH MANNION. 
“In this photograph here, this Granville Hotel” (photo C.V., Dist. N. 19, P. 30; Granville, 1884) “this hotel 
was not the original Granville Hotel; the one you see here was built while we were in Granville, probably 
in 1879 or 1880. It replaced an earlier building, which was pulled down or moved or something, but I 
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remember them building this one. And the Sullivan store here, that was built after the Granville Hotel, 
about a year after, say about 1880 or 1881; I remember them building it. This small building here still 
further west, this was where the Magee Bros. of the North Arm, Fraser River, had a grocery store. There 
was a road passed between Sullivan’s and this low white building, and it led to the shoemaker’s, Edward 
McKendry I suppose, at the back.” 

BAGPIPES, 1878-1881. EDWARD MCKENDRY, SHOEMAKER. 
“Bear this in mind; we left here in 1881, so anything I tell you must have happened before that. The first 
time I ever heard bagpipes was in the shoemaker’s cabin and store at the back of Sullivan’s. I did not 
know what bagpipes were, and went home and asked my mother. There was no dance or anything, no 
ceremony of any sort; the shoemaker, whom I suppose was Edward McKendry, used to play them of an 
evening after his work; just to revive old memories and pass the time, I suppose. Whether he or George 
Black had the first bagpipes I do not know, but I have seen George Black dancing Scotch dances at New 
Westminster.” 

FIRST SALVATION ARMY, NEW WESTMINSTER. 
“I was at the first Salvation Army meetings in New Westminster; we were a bunch of boys, and we used to 
go and listen to their singsongs. I can remember some of their songs yet; one was ‘Come, come, come, 
come; come away to Jesus.’ They had a little place upstairs on Columbia Street, on the river side of the 
street. There was a good crowd there. It was the novelty.” 

Major Matthews: What attracted the crowd? 

Mr. Bryant: “The Salvation Army will attract a crowd, anywhere, anytime. There were only two of them.” 
(See narrative of Mrs. H.E. Greatrex.) “That must have been about 1887.” 

BREW’S POINT. JOHNNIE BAKER’S CLEARING. NINE O’CLOCK GUN. HALLELUJAH POINT. 
At a luncheon, given by the Parks Board, to two hundred pioneers and others of Vancouver on the 
occasion of the re-entry of Locomotive No. 374, which drew the first trans-Canada passenger train from 
Montréal to Vancouver, 23 May 1887, held in the Stanley Park Pavilion, 22 August 1945, Major Matthews, 
City Archivist, was called upon by the Chairman, Mr. Holland, Parks Board, to introduce Mrs. H.E. 
Greatrex, one of the four founders of the Salvation Army in Vancouver, and to do it in the fewest words, 
owing to the proceedings being on a schedule. 

Major Matthews: (addressing the 200 at the tables)  

Come with me where we are going next: to Brew’s Point, Johnnie Baker’s Clearing, Nine O’Clock 
Gun, or Hallelujah Point; all the same place. Look! In all directions the silent forest covers the 
land; at high tide the waters lap the lower branches. Deadman’s Island is a gem of emerald 
floating in a sea of blue. 

There, in the distance, coming towards us from the Carrall Street log float, is a work boat; there 
are people in it. Presently, the bow grates on the gravel of the beach at our feet; men step out 
and, on their shoulders, slowly carry a small coffin of rude boards up the low cliff and into the 
trees. New earth is scattered about and, at the bottom of a shapeless hole in the ground, 
shapeless as a shell hole, the mourners gently place their burden; climb out again and stand, in a 
circle with others, solemn and silent, on the rim. No clergyman is available on Burrard Inlet, but 
the bull puncher is there, in his lumberjack’s shirt and his caulk boots. The bull puncher is 
troubled. 

“Ain’t nobody going to say nothing?” murmurs the bull puncher, and then, as no one says 
“nothing,” slips his hand in his vest pocket, withdraws a tiny prayer book, opens it and 
commences to read: 

“In as much as it has pleased Almighty God in His mercy to take unto Himself the soul of our dear 
sister —” 

Then all help to fill in the grave, return to their boat, and row back to Gastown. 
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Sunday afternoon, a week later, comes another smaller boat. Father, Mr. McCord, carries a tiny 
head board, with rounded top, made with his own hands and painted white with little [Maud] 
sister’s name daubed in black; Mother carries a jam jar for water and sister carries a posy of 
flowers to put in it. In the silence of the forest, Father sinks the head board in the earth while 
Mother arranges the flowers in the jar. 

There are from fifty to one hundred graves beneath the road from Hallelujah Point to the Brockton 
Point Lighthouse. “Each in his narrow cell forever laid, the rude forefathers of Vancouver sleep.” 
Hallelujah Point is hallowed ground; tread lightly as you pass. 

The years come and go; it is a brilliant summer’s day such as this. Another, larger boat is coming 
towards us from Carrall Street; a joyful picnic party; the Hallelujah Lassies are coming, coming 
with flag and drum and tambourine, coming to sing and to pray and to play. May I request Mrs. 
Greatrex, one of them, one of the four founders of the Salvation Army in Vancouver, to continue 
the story of Hallelujah Point half a century ago. 

(Major Matthews resumes seat.) 

SALVATION ARMY, ITS FIRST STREET PARADE, VANCOUVER, 10 DECEMBER 1887. 
Memo of conversation (over the phone) with Mrs. Hannah Elizabeth Greatrex, née Lynes (pronounced 
Ly-ness), who lives with her daughter, Mrs. C.F. Williams, 3615 Irvine Street, Burnaby, and kindly 
telephoned me, 10 December 1943. 

FIRST SALVATION ARMY STREET PARADE. 
Mrs. Greatrex: “We went on the corner of Carrall and Cordova Street and had an open air meeting, the 
first; today is the anniversary, 10th December. Captain Mary Hackett, Lieutenant Iverack, Lieutenant 
Tirney, and myself” (Lieutenant Lynes) “just the four of us, and our drum and flag. And then after the open 
air meeting—that was the first in Vancouver—we paraded down to the other end of Carrall Street, and the 
men all followed us, and we went into Hart’s Opera House and had another meeting in there.” 

J.S. Matthews, December 1943. 

OLD HASTINGS MILL STORE, ALMA ROAD. SUNDAY, 3 JUNE 1945. 
On the afternoon of Sunday, 3 June 1945, the Native Daughters of B.C., Post No. 1, held a reception and 
tea for the Pioneers of Vancouver, the Park Commissioners and the Trustees and Governors, City 
Archives. One hundred and fifty or more attended; it was a beautiful afternoon and the old building was 
comfortably crowded. 

It had been previously arranged with Mr. Roy A. Hunter, Chairman, Governors, that he should call at 3516 
Main Street with his motor car and “pick up” Mr. and Mrs. John Henry Scales who, next October (1945) 
will celebrate their Diamond wedding anniversary. Mr. John Henry Scales is the son of John Scales, 
Royal Engineer, and is said to be one of the only two now surviving of the party of Royal Engineers, wives 
and children who came to British Columbia, via the Horn, on the famous Thames City in 1859. Mr. John 
Henry Scales was born on the Island of Mauritius. He first saw Burrard Inlet in or about 1869 and is now 
the earliest living resident of Vancouver. When he came past Brockton Point in a rowboat with his father, 
there were three shacks only and the old Stamp’s Sawmill to be seen on the Vancouver waterfront. Mr. 
Scales is 91; Mrs. Scales, 84, is now inclined to be feeble.  

Mr. Hunter and I (Major J.S. Matthews) sat beside Mr. Scales waiting for the ceremonials to begin, and 
the following conversation took place. 

OLD HASTINGS MILL STORE. FIRST PILE DRIVER ON BURRARD INLET. 
Mr. Scales: “I saw this building being built. We were coming along from Gastown in a canoe and I saw in 
front of me something I had never seen before. It was a great high thing and they were hauling a ‘stick’” 
(pile or pole) “up it; we wondered what they were doing. It was a pile driver; I had never seen a pile driver 
before. Then, after a while, they had a big heavy piece of iron and they kept dropping it on top of the pile; 
they dropped it three times and that was the first pile ever driven, I should think, in Burrard Inlet. We were 
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coming along in a canoe from our home; the old coal shack down at the foot of what is now Abbott Street; 
the old deserted cabin of those who had drilled for coal and which we occupied.” 

HASTINGS MILL STORE WHARF. 
“Before they had the Hastings Sawmill wharf, all they had was the beach. When a boat came in, it had to 
push its way up as best it could on the beach and land things as best they could, but after they built the 
wharf they could land things properly, at any stage of the tide; they had a sloping place” (gangway) 
“where the boats could land their cargo at any time.” 

THE OLD, OLD HASTINGS MILL STORE. 
Major Matthews: Did you say you saw this building built? 

Mr. Scales: “Certainly. Before they built this store they had the earlier one. It was a building where they 
kept everything wanted for the mill and loggers. When a logger wanted anything, he went to that old store 
and got it; all they wanted for the mill, too. There were not so many people here that they wanted a 
regular store. All they wanted was a building to keep all sorts of stuff in, from tools to groceries; 
everything. Oh yes, I saw them build this building.” 

Note: in an old advertisement published in the News-Advertiser, 2 October 1891, there appears: 

HASTINGS MILL STORE 
1868—Established—1868 

If this is correct, then Mr. John Scales, R.E., and his wife and children, including John Henry Scales, must 
have come here in 1868 or earlier. 

Subsequently, Mr. Hunter took Mr. and Mrs. Scales back to their home, but before doing so, took them for 
a drive around those more splendid parts of the city which Mr. Scales had never seen. 

MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MRS. ROBERT MACKIE, 2510 SOUTHWEST MARINE DRIVE, 
FORMERLY MISS MARGARET ELIZABETH MCCLEERY, YOUNGEST DAUGHTER OF THE (ONE OF) 
FIRST SETTLERS ON THE SITE OF VANCOUVER, I.E., FITZGERALD MCCLEERY, OF D.L. 315, 3 
JULY 1945. 
Mrs. Mackie came carrying an old wash board, and two ox bows, which go around the neck to oxen, fit 
into the yoke. 

OXEN. OX BOWS. OX YOKES. 
Mrs. Mackie said: “Here are the two bows you asked for; got them out of the barn. They were used on our 
farm by my father for plowing; they used to go around the necks of our two oxen we plowed D.L. 315 with; 
one was called ‘Bright’ and the other ‘Jerry’; They were both pure white oxen. 

“Father says in his diary that the flies were bad, and bothering ‘Bright’ and ‘Jerry’; that was when my 
sister” (Mrs. Logan) “was born; it’s in his diary.” 

Note: Mrs. Logan was born 1878. 

Note: I have tired to fit the bows to the yoke given us by the Mitchell Estate, which was without bows, but 
the McCleery bows are a little too large for the holes in the yoke—too wide apart. If I steam the bows I 
think I can bend them in closer so that they will fit.  

JSM. 
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MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MRS. RUSSELL ALONZO LEONARD, NÉE ANDREWS, PIONEER, 
SEPTEMBER 1885, VICTORIA, SEPTEMBER 1886, VANCOUVER (AFTER THE FIRST FIRE), 811 
THURLOW STREET, WHO VERY KINDLY CALLED AT THE CITY ARCHIVES THIS AFTERNOON 
ACCOMPANIED BY MRS. C.O. BOYD OF 2142 WEST SECOND AVENUE, 3 OCTOBER 1945. 
HOTEL VANCOUVER, 1887. 
Mrs. Leonard: “I came to Vancouver from Victoria in September 1886; there were no trains in here then. I 
was born at Andrewsville, near Ottawa; named to honour my father; and then I came to Victoria from 
Collingwood, Ontario. My husband and I were married in Clinton, Ontario, and lived one year in 
Collingwood. We were married 1st January 1884, Wesleyan Methodist. We came to British Columbia by 
the Northern Pacific Railway to Tacoma; there were no trains into Seattle at that time; then by boat to 
Victoria. My husband was like most men; he was a rover.” 

GENEALOGY. 
Major Matthews: Can I say you roved? 

Mrs. Leonard: “Oh, yes, I’m very glad I came. The first work Mr. Leonard did here was on the foundation 
of the old Hotel Vancouver.” (Southwest corner, Georgia and Granville.) 

“We brought one daughter, ten months old, with us. She is now Mrs. Ernest John Peel. Hattie’s husband 
is an electrician at Kerrisdale. They have three boys. Mrs. Peel was born 22nd November 1884.” 

GEORGIA STREET EAST. HARRIS STREET. 
“Colin was born January 1887, the 9th, on what is now known as Georgia Street East, but in those days, 
Harris Street. Our house was one of the first. I think there were three others. Mr. Leonard built it himself. 
Colin married, but is now a widower; there were no children. 

“Frank S. Leonard, my third child, was born in Clinton, Ontario, in March” (about 28th) “1888. I was there 
on a visit. Frank is married, no children. Amy was born also in Clinton, Ontario. She is now Mrs. 
Alexander T. Windt; they live in Vancouver, and they have one son and two girls, all married. 

“Alice Emily was born when we were living on Georgia Street West, in that row of brick houses opposite 
the Safeways.” (Southeast corner, Seymour and Georgia.) “She is Mrs. John Mellish, Sydney, N.S.W., 
and they have one daughter. That completes the family; two sons and three daughters. 

“Mr. Leonard died in the Peace River country, at Dawson Creek, seven years ago; about 1838.” 

CHURCH STREET. 
Major Matthews: Do you know how that little lane by the old Congregational Church on Georgia Street got 
its name? 

Mrs. Leonard: “Mr. Leonard called it that because we had four dwelling houses down it. Mr. Leonard was 
a contractor; he was skilled as a bricklayer, and he built those brick houses facing Georgia Street, but do 
not confuse them with four, one and a half storey houses which were on the lane behind the Georgia 
Street houses, and which faced east, and there were still more, and a store, on Seymour Street facing 
west.” (See Goad’s Map, 1893, folio 19.) 

“Well, people did not like living on a lane or alley, so Mr. Leonard named that alley Church Street; you can 
see it marked here on your map.” 

B.C. SUGAR REFINERY. 
“Afterwards Mr. Leonard built the first sugar refinery; his men would not build the high chimney; too high 
for them, or something; so he built it himself with his own hands.” 

ALASKA. SALMON CANNERY. 
“I made eight trips to Alaska. Mr. Leonard had a salmon cannery on Chilcoot Inlet, and I went up for two 
months each summer. The first time I went up was the year before the Islander went down.” 
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SALMON CANNERY. PROVINCIAL CANNERY. EBURNE, B.C. 
“He also had a cannery out on the Fraser River before that; it was on Lulu Island just across the bridge, 
the second bridge; it was called the Provincial Cannery. It was sold, and the company sent him to Alaska 
to the other cannery which he had built. I don’t recall how many years he was there, and then the 
company sent him northwest again; he was about fifty miles from a place called Yakupat” (sic); “the 
cannery was built right in the shadow of Mount St. Elias. He was there until the beginning of the first 
Great War, 1914. They called it the St. Elias Packing Company. He had his own boat and he was putting 
up salmon for a company in Seattle; he had sent out all the salmon excepting fifty thousand cases. He 
had sent two hundred thousand cases and was bringing down the other fifty thousand cases on his boat, 
but coming out of the river to get into the ocean, the vessel was wrecked; the salmon lost. Five men 
swam or floated back to the cannery, but could not stay there as the supplies left were only just sufficient 
for the watchman, so they had to walk fifty miles to Yakupat” (sic); “they walked back and were there fifty-
three days before they got a boat out. Then the war broke out. So he got back to Vancouver with 
nothing.” 

CARIBOO. 
“In 1914 we went into the Cariboo; seventeen miles north of Soda Creek; we took up a piece of land; 
Buckshot Andrews was up at Australian about five or six miles. We were there for ten years, farming, 
mixed farming; we were on the west side of the river, not on the Cariboo Road; Castle Rock was the 
name of our post office. Our nearest neighbour was a mile away—a Chinaman, Oh Sing Lee.” 

ENGLISH BAY BEACH. GREER’S BEACH. 
Major Matthews: And still you say you are glad you came? 

Mrs. Leonard: “Sure I am? Georgia Street, down to English Bay Beach was just a trail, and we used to go 
to Greer’s Beach, go across the railway trestle, and pick berries, wild blackberries, and there was never a 
berry grown yet which was any better than those berries. Then my husband would come and bring us 
home; we walked.” 

CONVERSATION WITH MR. MATTHEW SERGIUS LOGAN, OF 1259 WEST GEORGIA STREET, 
WHERE HE RESIDES IN A HOUSE BUILT, YEARS AGO, BY THE HON. F.L. CARTER-COTTON, 
OWNER-EDITOR OF THE NEWS-ADVERTISER, 20 NOVEMBER 1945. 
His office is in the Crown Building, 615 West Pender Street, in which office he was the first tenant, and 
has been there thirty-five years. He very kindly called, at our invitation, at the City Archives this afternoon 
for a chat. 

GENEALOGY. 
Mr. Logan said: “I was born in Morrisburg, Ontario, forty-five miles straight south from Ottawa on the St. 
Lawrence River. My father was Matthew Logan; he was a farmer; he was born in Elma, just north of there. 
Mother’s name was Miss Elizabeth Jane Allison; they were of Scotch descent. My grandfather Logan 
came to Canada somewhere around 1840, I think from County Antrim in Ireland. Father had two sons and 
one daughter; Grandfather had three sons and three daughters. I have no children. On my mother’s side, 
Mother’s father had four daughters and seven sons. I was brought up on a farm until I was nine years old; 
I have milked fifteen cows at one sitting when I was a boy nine years old. I have heard Mother say that 
she had milked twenty-seven cows. I have heard her say that she had taken the wool off the sheep’s 
back, and put it on a man’s back. We had forty cows on our farm; butter and cheese; Father had a 
cheese factory on the farm. Our family belonged to the Wesleyan Methodists. I was educated at 
Morrisburg Collegiate Institute; it was a sort of advanced high school; they prepared students for the 
university. 

“My brother, Andrew Allison Logan, died in Vancouver in 1930; my sister, Nettie, died in Morrisburg, 
unmarried, in 1877, and I am the other of the three children. Andrew’s widow is dead, but of his children, 
Nettie, the eldest of the family, died about 1925, leaving a son and daughter; one is on the prairie at Oak 
Lake, Manitoba, and the son is in the American Navy; quite a high officer, and has seen service in the 
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present war in Japan. Ralph Andrew Logan, the son, lives in Vancouver, mining property operator. James 
Josiah Logan lives in Winnipeg, Manitoba; that is all of Andrew’s children.  

“My wife, Miss Emily Morris of Hamilton, Ontario, died in Vancouver at our home, 2530 Point Grey Road, 
in October 1925; there are no children. Mrs. Logan is buried in Ocean View Cemetery, and my brother 
and his wife are buried in the same plot.” 

REV. EBENEZER ROBSON. PITT RIVER MEADOWS, 1875. 
“Father was a fairly successful farmer; he had his own farm, his own forty cows, a big cheese factory, and 
made cheese—no butter—from his own stock, and the farmer’s cows around. Then about 1873, the Rev. 
Ebenezer Robson, brother of the Hon. John Robson, premier of B.C. afterwards, took a trip east, and was 
stationed at Morrisburg for about three years. He was a great booster for British Columbia, and he 
suggested to Father that he should move out west. Father was finally persuaded to sell out everything, 
and on the 10th February 1875, we, that is, Father, Mother and three children, left Morrisburg by train via 
Sarnia and Chicago to San Francisco. The Rev. Robson had persuaded Father to sell out and come to 
British Columbia for the purpose of taking up land on the Pitt River Meadows, and you can imagine what 
that was like before there were any dykes, and ten years before the Canadian Pacific Railway was built. 
No Pullman cars in those days; coal oil headlights on the railway engines; coal stoves for heating the 
coaches, and we carried lunches for food, and replenished our supply at the several stops; no dining cars 
in those days. Finally we got to San Francisco.” 

S.S. PACIFIC. S.S. LOS ANGELES. 
“At that time there were two steamers, old ‘tubs,’ running from San Francisco to Victoria; one was the 
Pacific and the other was the Los Angeles. We sailed on the Los Angeles, screw steamer. After two or 
three days we ran into a very heavy storm, and off Cape Flattery the shaft which operated the propeller 
broke, and lodged in the rudder, preventing the steering of the ship which, otherwise, might have been 
possible. We were unable to progress or to steer, and tossed there, out in the middle of the ocean storm, 
for three days. There were several coast captains on board, coming north to Tacoma for the spring 
season. 

“On the morning of the first day, one of these captains, with five or six men, left in a lifeboat hoping to 
make a landing somewhere along the shores, and get to Victoria to get help. This boat did not return. 

“On the second morning a similar crew started, and returned that night stating that a landing was 
impossible, and that the first boat must have been lost. 

“On the third morning, a third crew started, and returned that night with a similar report. Naturally, gloom 
settled over the entire ship. About ten o’clock that night, a light was seen in the mist, and immediately 
rockets and signals were sent up, and we found that it was a tugboat from Astoria, coming to our 
assistance. It was revealed that the first boat crew had landed, and in doing so had gone in on the crest 
of one high wave, jumped, caught hold of shrubs, and got out of the way of the swell of the second roller 
following the first, before it could reach them, but they had to let their boat and provisions go, and they 
were lost. The captain and his crew then walked several miles until they reached a stage road running 
into Astoria, and there they arranged for a tug to come to our aid.” 

ASTORIA, OREGON. 
“The next morning we started for Astoria, and as the storm was still raging at its height, the Columbia bar 
was practically impassable. Three boats had been lost on the bar during the same storm prior to our 
appearance at its entrance. At one stage in crossing the bar, the captain had a man standing with an axe, 
and thinking both tug and the Los Angeles would be lost, ordered the rope severed. But quickly he gave a 
reverse order; the rope was not cut; and in a short time we were in comparatively calm waters. 

“We landed at Astoria, and then soon took the Jessy Thomson, a stern wheel steamer, from Astoria to 
Kalama” (sic); “there is a bridge across the Columbia River there now. At Kalama we got on the Southern 
Pacific Railroad to Tacoma; there was no Seattle then; Tacoma was the ‘town’ in those days. At Tacoma 
we got a steamer to Victoria, and at Victoria we got another stern wheeler to New Westminster. When we 
got to Plumper Pass, now Active Pass, there was a storm on, and we tied up all night, and arrived at New 
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Westminster the next morning, about the 10th of March, 1875. We had taken a month on the way, but of 
course we had to wait at San Francisco for a few days.” 

S.P. MOODY OF MOODYVILLE SAWMILL. 
“On the steamer coming up with us was Sue Moody of Moodyville. Everyone liked Moody, and it was only 
a short time until he and my father were very good friends. Moody soon sized up the situation, and knew 
that my father would be thoroughly disappointed, and made Father promise that before he did anything 
definite, that he would come over to Moodyville and see Mr. Moody.” 

PITT MEADOWS, 1875. PITT RIVER, 1875. 
“My father and brother, who was ten years older than I was, they got a Siwash and a canoe, and went up 
the river to Pitt Meadows. It was raining and cold, and they landed on the river bank some place, and the 
tide was out, and left them stranded with about a quarter of a mile of mud under their feet. They had to 
stay there for the night. The klootch went out and shot a duck, brought it in, and was none too particular 
about leaving the pin feathers in, and in the manner she cleaned it, and it was served with a mixture of 
feathers and everything, and some of it was duck. This did not prove very appetising, so my father and 
brother saw some hen’s eggs and got her to boil them. In order to serve them, she took them out of the 
water, took an egg at a time between her hands, and served shells and all on the same plate. The 
outcome of it was that Father and my brother went out in the garden and dug up a turnip, and lived on 
that turnip until they got back to New Westminster. Fortunately, the Rev. Ebenezer Robson was three 
thousand miles away back east. 

“Naturally, that was the finish of farming on the Pitt Meadows.” 

MOODYVILLE SAWMILL. S.S. SENATOR. 
“After a month or so, we all went over a corduroy road known as the Douglas Road to the ‘End of the 
Road’ at Hastings Townsite. The road was, quite a proportion of it, corduroy running through a crack in 
the forest; at certain places the branches met overhead. It was wide enough, at points, for two buggies to 
pass. 

“On the inlet at that time there was a little propeller steamer called the Senator. She made a triangle trip 
running from Hastings Townsite to Moodyville and on to Gastown, and from Gastown back to Hastings. 
We all went, parents and children; you see, Moody had exacted a promise from Father that he would 
come and see him before he did anything, or went back to Morrisburg. So when we arrived at Moodyville, 
Moody had a cabin waiting for us, and we were as comfortable as conditions at that time would permit.  

 “My father and brother went to work in the sawmill, both tallying lumber, and occasionally, as a little boy, I 
would pack shingles, which was the first money I ever earned. We remained at Moodyville until the fall of 
1875, and then we all went back to Morrisburg, where I remained until I came to Rossland, B.C. in 1898, 
where I was mining. In 1899, mining at Rossland was at its zenith. I wanted to come back to British 
Columbia.” 

MOODYVILLE INDIANS. “THE MISSION,” MOODYVILLE. SUE MOODY’S EXPERIENCE. WHISKEY FOR 
INDIANS. 
“Before I tell you more, let’s get back to Moodyville in 1875, when I was a boy of nine. 

“Now then, one incident; I shall never forget it. At that time there were usually half a dozen sailing ships 
anchored in the inlet waiting their turn to load with lumber. The crew at the mill, at that time, would be 
about one third Europeans, one third Chinamen, and one third Indians. The Indians were living at ‘The 
Mission,’ the same as today, and would walk back and forth from the ‘Mission’ to the mill along a trail on 
the waterfront. One day, one of the captains of one of the sailing ships gave the Indians two or three jugs 
of Scotch whiskey. The next morning you can imagine the condition of the Indians and the ‘Mission.’ The 
mill had to close down. Moody and the white men were talking things over, and Moody said he was going 
down to the ‘Mission’ to see the Indians. The white men urged him not to go, as the Indians were wild and 
he would only get hurt. Moody insisted on going, and said that the Indians liked him, and that he was not 
afraid. The white men said, ‘We will go with you,’ but Moody replied, ‘No, you won’t; if you go there will be 
trouble; I’m going alone,’ and away he went.” 
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INDIANS STRIP MOODY NAKED, 1875. 
“The white men followed at a respectable distance behind and out of sight. As a boy, I naturally followed 
along with some other boys; we all wanted to see the fun. When Moody got to the ‘Mission’ and the 
Indians saw him, they let out a whoop, got everything they had that would make a noise, commenced to 
pound it, and grabbing Moody, stripped him absolutely naked, and naked as he was, put him at the head 
of a procession, and marched him all the way back from the ‘Mission’ to the mill at Moodyville, singing 
songs and making all the noise they could, and two or three priests from the Roman Catholic church 
following up the procession carrying Moody’s clothes. When they got to the mill, the Indians turned, and 
started back to the ‘Mission,’ running like deer. 

“A day or two afterwards, another procession was formed at the ‘Mission,’ this time headed by the priests, 
and followed by the Indians, and marched from the ‘Mission’ to the sawmill, and there, through the 
medium of the priests, begged Moody to forgive them, and promised never to do it again. 

“As a little boy, impressionable, it is a scene I shall never forget. There was nothing vicious about the 
Indians; they would not hurt Moody; they were just wild with whiskey, and that was all there was to it; they 
did not know what they were doing. And I doubt if there is any other individual in British Columbia who 
knows the story.” 

H.M.S. REPULSE, 1875. 
“Well, on either 24th May or 4th July, 1875, the old H.M.S. Repulse—they used to call her a ‘gun boat’—
she was anchored here in the inlet off Moodyville, and Moody took a scow and the tug Senator and took 
all the white residents of Moodyville to a church service on the Repulse. I was there with Father, Mother, 
my brother and sister.” 

BIG FLAGSTAFFS. SPARS. 
“About the flagstaffs, and the power of united action. I don’t know where it was going, but it was a big 
flagstaff, a monster; it may have been the one, the first one they sent to Kew Gardens, London; I don’t 
know, but it was a big one, and the derrick broke with its weight, and it would take a month to get repair 
parts for the derrick from San Francisco. So the captain of the ship said, ‘Leave it to me.’ He got all the 
sailors off all the ships at anchor or loading, and he put one man about every so many inches or feet, and 
the first thing we knew, that huge flagstaff was on board.” 

PICNIC AT SEYMOUR CREEK, 1875. 
“There was nowhere much to go for a picnic in 1875; everything was forest, but there was a bit of grass 
and a bit of pasture up Seymour Creek flats, so one day we all got on a scow at the invitation of Moody, 
and took all the people of Moodyville for a picnic up Seymour Creek.” 

Major Matthews: What was the cabin like which Mr. Moody gave you to live in? 

Mr. Logan: “Just board and batten. My sister went up to Maple Ridge, or what is now Maple Ridge, to 
teach school. I was the ‘baby’ of the family.” 

Submitted to Mr. Logan for approval, 17 December 1945. 

Approval, 25 June 1946 by Mr. Logan. 

J.S. Matthews. J.S.M. 
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MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MR. AND MRS. JOHN FIELDEN STRANG (PRONOUNCED 
STRANG, NOT STRANGE), 4554 WEST 4TH AVENUE, WHO VERY KINDLY CALLED AT THE CITY 
ARCHIVES THIS AFTERNOON, 17 APRIL 1946. 
JOHN STRANG, PIONEER, 1873. JOHN FIELDEN STRANG, 1880. 
Mr. Strang: “You know, I always understood that my brother, Nelson, was the first white child born in 
Granville, or Gastown; he died in 1879 of scarlet fever, and is buried in New Westminster; his grave is in 
the old, old cemetery, and Father is buried there too. John Strang, both in the same grave. I have often 
heard my mother speak of it, and also I will see what my sister, Mrs. George Newman” (she lives in New 
Westminster), “I must see what she says; she is eight years older than I am. She, Amanda Newman, my 
sister, was born in New Brunswick. 

“Mother was a Miss Helen Carlow, daughter of John Carlow of St. Andrew’s, New Brunswick; Mother and 
Father came to Vancouver in the very early days, and my grandfather, John Carlow, followed, and went 
to Victoria, where he died. There were two girls and three boys in the Strang family; all born in British 
Columbia excepting Mrs. Newman. One brother, Claude Strang, of mine, is living in Agassiz, and the 
second brother, Wesley, died from the effects of the war 1914-1918; he served in the Engineers in 
France. Mrs. Newman is one sister in New Westminster, and Mrs. Furness in New Westminster is my 
other. 

“I was born in Granville, 15 May 1880. We moved away from Burrard Inlet in 1882; Father was with Jerry 
Rogers at Jericho. We lived in New Westminster for about a year or so before the Westminster fire in 
September 1898, and then we came back to Vancouver and have lived here ever since. Father died in 
New Westminster about 1934 and is buried there; Mother died in Vancouver in 1931 and is buried in 
Mountain View. I can just remember there was a fire in Vancouver in June 1886; then I went to the old 
Central School in New Westminster.” 

HOMER STREET METHODIST CHURCH. 
Major Matthews: Where were you at the time of the flood? 

Mrs. Strang: (interjecting) “I was on Lulu Island, on No. 2 Road; my father was Capt. Richard Gosse, and I 
remember he tied a row boat to the front door, and we children were wishing the water would come in the 
house so we could go and visit my aunt on the North Arm, Mrs. Thomas Alcock. I went to a little school on 
Lulu Island; we walked there up the dyke; lots of snakes; and took our lunch, and played in the school 
yard; Mr. Atkinson was the teacher; I have one of the school books in which he drew corn and signed his 
name. We belonged to the old Halcyon Club, dances, we used to in early days; Father moved to 
Vancouver, and then we came in and lived on Richards Street; he owned those two little houses between 
Holy Rosary; the Archbishop’s Palace stands next door to them; the old houses are still there. Then we 
came to Broughton and Nelson Street, and that was where we, Mr. Strang and I, were married; corner of 
Broughton and Nelson. We were married in the old Wesley Church on the southwest corner of Georgia 
and Burrard Street. We had a two-horse hack, and according to the custom of those times, white ribbons 
on the whip. 

“Our son is Alen, born Vancouver December 28th 1910. He is married, and has one little girl, Carol Jean; 
Alen married Jean Forester, daughter of Howard Forester, M.L.A., about 1939.” 
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MEMO OF CONVERSATION, 7 MAY 1946, WITH MRS. THOMAS (CATHERINE) FITZPATRICK, 
PIONEER OF VANCOUVER, 3 SEPTEMBER 1886, AND HER DAUGHTER, MRS. JAMES H. (MARY 
ANN) GALBRAITH, ALSO PIONEER OF VANCOUVER, WHO VERY KINDLY CALLED AT THE CITY 
ARCHIVES THIS AFTERNOON FOR A CHAT, AND STAYED FOR A CUP OF TEA AND PIECE OF CAKE. 
For her advanced years, Mrs. Fitzpatrick is very well preserved, and a vivacious conversationalist, walks 
without assistance, and has tolerably good eyesight, and a very good memory—she does not hesitate. 

GENEALOGY. MRS. THOMAS FITZPATRICK. 
Mrs. Fitzpatrick: “I was married in Cleveland, Ohio, at the Catholic Cathedral on Euclid Avenue. Mr. 
Fitzpatrick, my husband, was in Canada two years before I was. I left Ireland on an Allan line steamer for 
Montréal from Ennis, County Clare, and went to visit friends in the United States. It was in the fall of the 
year. I had relatives ‘by the dozen’ all over the United States, so I took six months off and visited them all. 
From Montréal I went to New York, and from New York to Wilmington, Delaware, and stayed two months 
with my aunt; that would be about September 1885; then I went to visit more relatives at Cleveland, Ohio. 
During that time Mr. Fitzpatrick was working on the C.P.R. construction work, and as soon as navigation 
opened, he came down by Great Lake boat to Cleveland; we were married and I went back with him to 
Port Arthur, Ontario. 

“Then, after that, we came all the way out here to Port Moody, got off the train at Port Moody, and came 
down to Vancouver by boat; I think it was the old Yosemite. Mary Ann was born at Port Arthur, 3rd May 
1886, my eldest child, and she was about three months old when we arrived at Port Moody, 3rd 
September 1886. Mr. Fitzpatrick continued to work for the C.P.R. We got off at the old Hastings Sawmill 
store wharf.” 

POWELL STREET, 1886. 
“We went to live on Powell Street in the three hundred block, but there were no house numbers then; it 
was afterwards numbered 326 Powell Street, south side, and quite close to the St. James’ Church and 
the residences of the Bell-Irvings, Capt. William Soule, and Mr. R.H. Alexander, but at that time there was 
lots of bush around. The house was a storey and a half, was built right up to the street, and had a little 
verandah across the whole of the front. You can see it in this photo here” (No. C.V. Str. N. 140, P. 226) 
“about the middle here, of the photo.” (Note: the ground plan appears in Dakin’s Fire Map, November 
1889, folio 12.) “The Secord Hotel was near.” 

WATER FROM WELLS. BLACKBERRIES. FIREWOOD. 
“We had to sink a well to get our water; so did the Bell-Irvings on Alexander Street; the well was in the 
back yard; at first we hauled water up in a bucket, but afterwards we got a pump, and pumped it up; the 
pump was out in the yard over the well. It was very good water; we had a good spring; the well was only 
about ten feet deep. When I needed water I just hauled it up. We did not have to worry about wood; there 
was all kinds of it around; you could pick up all the wood you wanted. And there was all the wild 
blackberries for jam, or fresh fruit you could pick; the Indians used to come selling a great big salmon for 
twenty-five cents, and for vegetables we had our little garden.” 

CEDAR COVE. VICTORIA DRIVE. VANCOUVER IMPROVEMENT CO. 
“Then we moved from there to Cedar Cove, and Mr. Fitzpatrick started taking contracts for clearing land 
for the Vancouver Improvement Company surrounding where we lived; all about Victoria Drive at the end 
of Powell Street. We lived at Cedar Cove about ten years, and then we went to Hastings; we were in the 
logging business then. Mr. Fitzpatrick leased about six hundred acres of land from the Joseph” (“Joe”) 
“Martin Estate and we logged off that land. We had a sawmill there. Mr. Fitzpatrick ran the sawmill; it was 
right on the corner of Renfrew and Charles streets, and he cut both lumber and shingles. Then about that 
time my husband died of pneumonia, and he is buried in Mountain View Cemetery.” 

HOLY ROSARY CHURCH. CITY HALL, POWELL STREET. REV. FATHER PATRICK FAY. REV. FATHER 
NEWMAN. POLICE STATION. MASS. PRESBYTERIANS. 
“Of course, when we came here first the City Hall was being built, and the Police Station in the same 
building on Powell Street. There were no churches, and we were allowed to hold services in the upstairs 
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of the City Hall; there was no other place to hold them, so we held them upstairs, over the Police Station. 
The Rev. Father Fay was the priest; he held mass there; the congregation would be about thirty men, 
women and children. That only lasted a little while, until they built the first little Holy Rosary Church on 
Richards Street. Father Newman succeeded Father Fay. I think the Presbyterians held their services in 
the Council Chamber upstairs of the City Hall, just as we did.” 

GENEALOGY. 
“I had fourteen children; all lived except one. Out of the thirteen, I have lost three in the last few years, so 
that there are five boys and five girls now living; every one was born in my own home; our doctors were 
Dr. Langis or Dr. Robertson. There are thirty grandchildren, and twenty great-grandchildren, but, as yet, 
we have not go as far as any great-great-grandchildren. 

“I think that’s enough for now.” 

CHARLES WOODWARD. WOODWARD DEPARTMENT STORES. 
Previously to my commencing to type, Mrs. Fitzpatrick told me that she recalled when Mr. Charles 
Woodward, founder of the Woodward Department Stores, and whose original store was on the northeast 
corner of Harris (now Georgia Street East) and Westminster (now Main Street) Avenue, had but one girl 
helping in his store. She said she (Mrs. Fitzpatrick) retained his friendship right up to the time of his death, 
and that about three weeks before he passed away, he complained to her of having a severe cold. 

As told to me. 
J.S. Matthews 
7 May 1946. 

CONVERSATION WITH MR. CHARLES ALEXANDER BATTISON, OF 6100 BATTISON STREET, SON 
OF WILLIAM JOHN AND ANN BATTISON, IN WHOSE HONOUR BATTISON STREET, VANCOUVER, IS 
NAMED, 17 MAY 1946. 
Mr. Battison is one of the few babies born in Vancouver during 1886, having been born on Oppenheimer 
Street, now Cordova Street, between Westminster Avenue and Gore Avenue, north side, 2 October 1886. 
His delayed registration of birth was effected in May 1946. 

BATTISON STREET. W.J. BATTISON. C.W. BATTISON. 
Mr. Battison: “Father came to Vancouver with Mother and one child, Frank, via Port Moody, and on the 
first train to arrive. Father told me that when they arrived, there was a big delegation from Victoria and 
Vancouver to meet them, and the boat was so heavy-loaded with people he thought it was going to upset. 
Then Father and Mother went to Victoria and lived in a tent down on the waterfront, and then came back 
to Vancouver. Then they met two fellows from New Brunswick; they were tired of Vancouver so they 
bought their place on the north side of Oppenheimer, now Cordova Street West, between Gore and 
Westminster Avenue, where Charles was born. 

“After that there were other children born, but I doubt if any of them were born there as they moved over 
to let Father be near his work at the Leamy and Kyle Mill on False Creek just west of the Cambie Street 
bridge. We lived right back of the mill in a little house right beside a tiny bridge which crossed the creek 
west of the mill about one hundred yards. Harry was born in that house. Then we moved over to Fourth 
and Columbia Avenue. I can recall the move, and there one other son, Fred, was born, and one sister, 
Ivy, now Mrs. Murray, was born; then we moved out to Westminster Road, now Kingsway, and Father 
preempted seven acres under the ‘Small Holdings’ arrangement, and he stayed there. The original seven 
acres was subdivided and sold; the family own none of the original grant now. There were two children 
born out on the Seven Acres, Wilfred and Florence, also a Mrs. R.M. Murray. 

“Father was a planerman in the Leamy and Kyle Mill, and afterwards, when we went to live on” (Battison 
Street) “out Westminster Road. He walked in night and morning to the Leamy and Kyle Mill—seven 
miles—and worked ten hours. Mayor Baxter and Reeve Churchill of Point Grey also worked in the mill.” 
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EAST SOUTH VANCOUVER SCHOOL. CARLETON SCHOOL. “PIG AND WHISTLE.” 
“When the East South Vancouver School was started, I attended it; it was in Peter Dubois’ house; there 
were three in our family and the Alcock family had four or five, and a few others; there were only about 
eleven altogether; Martin J. Ravey was the teacher. We were there for a few months and then we moved 
down to John Collins’ property. The first school was in Mr. Dubois’ kind of a store. We had trouble getting 
water; we got our water from an old well in the ‘Pig and Whistle Hotel,’ on the north side of the road and is 
still standing, but our old home has gone. The ‘Pig and Whistle’ is in the 3300 block Kingsway; it is right 
on the corner of Stanford and Kingsway, on the northwest corner. They moved it around; it is now a 
dwelling, just a house, nothing much to look at; you would never know it had been a road house; that was 
all it was; they had a bar. There used to be quite a few wild cats and a few bears around. Maxwell Smith 
once got three bears on one day. A few cougars were around.” 

MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH JOHN HENRY SCALES, PIONEER, 1867 OR 1868, OF BURRARD 
INLET, AND TODAY, 28 MAY 1946, THE EARLIEST LIVING RESIDENT IN A CITY OF FOUR HUNDRED 
THOUSAND OR MORE, I.E., VANCOUVER. 
He came to British Columbia with the Royal Engineers on the Thames City in 1859. 

THE FIRST FREEDOM OF PARKS. 
Mr. Scales in response to Major Matthews’s request that he talk. 

Mr. Scales: “About the freedom of the parks that the Park Board conferred upon Mrs. Scales and myself. 
How am I going to show anyone that I am a freeman of the parks. I might want to go for a swim in the 
Crystal Pool, and the fellow in charge would not let us in.” 

ROYAL ENGINEERS, 1859. SURVIVORS IN 1946. 
Major Matthews: Mr. Scales, who is living now who came on the Thames City? 

Mr. Scales: “Johnnie McMurphy and myself; that’s all I know of; all the rest have passed away.” 

BURRARD INLET, 1868. 
Mr. Scales: (addressing Miss Klemm, my assistant) “The first time I saw this place was when we came 
around Brockton Point in a row boat; there was a great big barn of a place up on the hill where Abbott 
Street is now; looked like a lighthouse. And then I remember when I saw the first railway locomotive; it 
loomed up above me like a great big thing; it seemed huge; but of course by our ideas of today it was just 
a little thing. Our ideas of size were different then.” 

(Addressing Major Matthews) “These strikes are playing the mischief with everything; I don’t know what 
we’ll have pretty soon; won’t have anything to eat. I think these strikes are a regular nuisance; I think 
going too far; lots of people here are getting big wages but they are not satisfied. Different ones are 
getting one hundred and fifty and two hundred a month and yet they are not satisfied. When we got two 
and a half dollars a day we thought it was big wages, and lived fine. 

“First job I had here on Burrard Inlet was fifty cents a day for eleven and a half hours work; wheeling 
sawdust at the Moodyville Mill. And when I got the money, I thought I was somebody.” 

LYNN OF LYNN CREEK. 
“Lynn of Lynn Creek came out with us on the same boat. He was as good hard working fellow; good big 
healthy people. After we left here Father got work in Moodyville, that is, after we left the beach at the foot 
of Cambie Street now, and then he went over to Moodyville.” 

COAL BOXING. ABBOTT STREET. STAMP’S MILL. 
Major Matthews: Mr. Scales, tell me the story of the old coal bore cabin again. Where was it? Where you 
lived first? 

Mr. Scales: “You see when we came around Brockton Point in the row boat, Father and I, we saw the 
three shacks on the distant beach, and we made for the big one; it was the nearest; the middle one; it 
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was, they tell me, about where the foot of Abbott Street is now. It was a great big square barn, board and 
batten, that was all it was. When we got there we found nothing; empty barn, that’s all.” 

GRANVILLE, 1868. FIRST DOCK OR WHARF. 
“Father said, ‘We won’t stop here; we’ll go down to the next one.’ It was about the foot of Carrall Street. 
Couldn’t find out anything there about who owned the empty barn. Father said to him, that is, Gassy Jack, 
‘Can you tell me who owns that empty barn up there?’ Gassy Jack said, ‘I don’t know; go up to the mill’” 
(pointing towards Stamp’s Mill) “‘and see the superintendent.’ Father found the superintendent and says, 
‘Can you tell me who owns that big barn down there’” (pointing) “and he replied, ‘No, I can’t tell you,’ he 
says, ‘What do you want it for?’ So Father says he would try and find out who it belonged to, and get 
lumber and put in petitions. So the superintendent said that if Father would come up and get it, he could 
have all the lumber he wanted. So after a while Father went up and borrowed some tools, and took the 
tools down in the row boat and towed the lumber after it; no roads then; there was no clearing in Granville 
Townsite then. It looked like the rest of the forest along the shore. There was no log float in front of the 
barn; there was a big tree fell out in the water and I nailed some boards on the top of it so as to make 
myself a nice little landing for our boat; we could follow the tide in and out.” 

FIRST BATHING BEACH. 
“Mother used to tell us when we would go out on the beach, ‘Don’t take off your shoes and stockings, or 
you’ll have feet like Indians.’ So we used to go a little piece below the house and take off our shoes and 
stockings where we were out of sight, and wade around the beach all day, climb big rocks and everything 
else, and take a tin and catch little crabs, an see who would get the most. There were no amusements 
here for us; just Will and Lizzie and George and myself; that was all of us that was here then. The barn, 
now our house, was in a little piece of the beach, in the trees, and not always in sight; the bushes hid it.” 

As narrated to me, 28 May 1946. 

J.S. Matthews. 

After tea and cake, I took Mr. Scales to his home, 3520 Main Street, in a taxicab. 

GRANVILLE, NOT “GASTOWN.” 
“Gastown prisoners tied to stumps.” By B.A. McKelvie, Province, 8 June 1946. 

GRANVILLE, BURRARD INLET. “GASTOWN.” CAPTAIN JOHN DEIGHTON. “GASSY JACK.” 
Conversation over the telephone, 20 June 1946, with A.M. Whiteside, Esq., K.C., pioneer, 1879: 

Mr. Whiteside: (to Major Matthews) “I got your invitation and medallion; thank you.” (Issued by the 
Diamond Jubilee Committee to those here sixty years.) “Very nice. 

“Why don’t you stop those people” (newspaper men and historians) “calling this place ‘Gastown.’ Nobody 
ever called it ‘Gastown’; nor spoke of ‘Gassy Jack.’ If you had asked anybody in those days where 
‘Gastown’ was they wouldn’t have known what you were talking about.” 

EXCERPT, EARLY VANCOUVER, MATTHEWS, VOL. 5. 
Conversation with Mrs. Norman Emerson Lougheed, 2891 West 45th Avenue, Vancouver. 

Mrs. Lougheed, née Paull, whose father owned Lot 2, Block 3, Old Granville townsite, purchased 12 
December 1877, now Cordova Road West. 

“He says the place was called ‘Gastown.’ It wasn’t called Gastown. We never called it Gastown; we 
always called it Granville.” 

Note: there are several other instances of protestation by residents of Granville that they did not know it 
as Gastown. 
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MEMO OF CONVERSATION WITH MRS. HILTON PHILPOT, NÉE “GRETA” (MARGARET) MILLER, 
12 JUNE 1946. 
Daughter of the late Jonathan Miller, Esq., Returning Officer of the first civic election in Vancouver, and a 
very early pioneer of Granville, Burrard Inlet; afterwards Postmaster of Vancouver for about thirty-five 
years. Mrs. Philpot called at the City Archives at our request, and graciously consented to check for 
correction the index cards listing the names and addresses of all persons now living in or about 
Vancouver, who were residents on the shore of Burrard Inlet in or before 1886. It is in connection with the 
issue to them of small medallions commemorating the Diamond Jubilee of incorporation as a city of 
Vancouver. The checking having been completed, we asked Mrs. Philpot a few questions. 

“Gastown prisoners tied to stumps.” By B.A. McKelvie, Province, 8 June 1946. 

GRANVILLE. GRANVILLE GAOL. CONSTABLE JONATHAN MILLER. W. WYMOND WALKEM. 
Major Matthews: Mrs. Philpot, when did you arrive in Granville? 

Mrs. Philpot: “Seventeenth of September, one eight seven nine” (1879.) 

Major Matthews: Did you happen to see an article in last Saturday’s Province, magazine section, by Mr. 
McKelvie about prisoners being tied to stumps? 

Mrs. Philpot: (smiling) “I did.” 

Major Matthews: What did you think of it? 

Mrs. Philpot: “Rubbish and rot.” 

Major Matthews: Did they tie prisoners to stumps? 

Mrs. Philpot: (aroused, and in a voice raised above the quite customary tone of this demure and gracious 
lady; her indignation was discernible, and her attitude one of anger) “Nooooooooooo.” 

Mrs. Philpot: (continuing in her mild manner) “Father used to read Mr. Walkem’s letters and laugh. Mr. 
Walkem used to write a lot of things which Father said never happened; one was about a corpse which 
was supposed to have fallen through the bottom of the coffin; Father said it never happened. And then, 
when Mr. Walkem wrote his book, Father used to sit and read it and laugh and laugh; Father said there 
were lots of things which never happened, and it used to make Father laugh. Mr. Walkem didn’t know 
much about Granville; he lived in Victoria and New Westminster.” 

J.S. Matthews 
City Archivist. 

City Archives, 
City Hall,  
Vancouver, Canada 
12 June 1946. 

Note: in a recent conversation with John Warren Bell, associated with the DeBeck firm, logging on 
Burrard Inlet, who came to Moodyville on the S.S. Beaver in 1871, Mr. Bell was severe in his denial that 
any prisoner was ever tied to a tree or stumps in Granville, or elsewhere on Burrard Inlet. 

J.S. Matthews. 
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